Experiences in Shelter Care

Perspectives from Participants in the Butterfly Longitudinal Study

A Chab Dai study on Re/integration Researching the lifecycle of sexual exploitation & trafficking in Cambodia





Dr. Laura Cordisco Tsai • Lim Vanntheary • Nhanh Channtha

Experiences in Shelter Care:

Perspectives from Participants in the Butterfly Longitudinal Study

2018

Authors: Dr. Laura Cordisco Tsai

Lim Vanntheary Nhanh Channtha

Editor: James Havey Butterfly Research Team: Sreang Phaly Phoeuk Phallen Ou Sopheara Kang Chimey In honor of Siobhan Miles, founder of the Butterfly Longitudinal Re/integration Research Project. All of this would not have been possible without her compassion and care for the children of Cambodia





Table of Contents

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	4
ABOUT THE BUTTERFLY LONGITUDINAL RE/INTEGRATION RESEARCH PROJECT	l 5
ABOUT THE AUTHORS	6
MEET THE BUTTERFLY TEAM	7
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	9
Introduction	9
Methodology	10
FINDINGS: WHICH THEMES WERE MENTIONED THE MOST? Table 1: Frequency in which themes are mentioned by participants	10 11
FINDINGS – MALE PARTICIPANTS AND THE MAJORITY OF FEMALE PARTICIPANTS Discrepancies about participant's exploitation, trafficking, and/or abuse histories	12 12
1. Shelter Intake	12
Experiencing emotional distress upon initial shelter intake	12
Adjusting to the shelter environment over time	13
Decision making regarding shelter transfer	13
2. Life in the Shelter	14
Table 2: Life in the shelter	14
Appreciation for education and provision for basic needs	15
Feeling privileged to live in a shelter Personal growth and maturation	15 15
Importance of caregiving and emotional support	16
Staff speaking harshly and insulting clients	16
Not believing clients	17
Lacking freedom and feeling trapped by many rules within the shelter	17
Limited engagement with family while in the shelter Mixed experiences with counseling in the shelter	18 18
Client engagement in decision making regarding skills training	19
Delay in the provision of medical care	19
Violations of client confidentiality and lack of trust	20
Violence (emotional, physical, and/or sexual) in the shelter	20
Staff difficulties managing boys' behavior and responding to violence	21
Influence of management on client experiences	21 22
Impact of financial resources on shelter experiences	22

3. Discharge/Leaving the Shelter	22
Table 3: Discharge / Leaving the shelter	22
Uncertainty about readiness to survive in the community	22
Minimal involvement in decision making and planning about re/integration	23
Requesting to leave the shelter	23
Running away from the shelter	24
4. Life in the Community and Community-Based Services	24
Table 4: Life in the community and provision of community-based services	S
by shelters	24
Conflicted feelings about life in the community compared to life in the shelter	25
Difficulties completing school and securing employment after leaving the shelter	25
Violence in the community	26
Limited follow-up and supportive services in the community	26
Unfulfilled expectations	27
Feeling loved like a family member in the shelter, but abandoned in the community Vulnerability in the community due to dramatic difference between shelter and	27
community	28
Desire to return to the shelter	20 28
Varied experiences with case closure	28
FINDINGS – CASE STUDY OF PARTICIPANTS IN A SHELTER FOR ADULT	
WOMEN	29
Table 5: Case Study Findings	29
Feeling forced to live in a shelter	30
Disempowerment in the shelter environment	30
Lack of professionalism among shelter staff	30
Limitations in vocational training and business development services	31
Desire to leave the shelter	31
Limited follow-up and lack of interest in contacting shelter staff in community	32
TWENTY RECOMMENDATIONS FROM PARTICIPANTS	32
THEMATIC GROUP #1: PROMOTE CLIENT AGENCY AND ADOPT AN	02
EMPOWERMENT-BASED APPROACH.	33
THEMATIC GROUP #2: ENSURE THAT THE SHELTER ENVIRONMENT IS	-
RESPONSIVE TO THE NEEDS AND PRIORITIES OF CLIENTS	33
THEMATIC GROUP #3: FOSTER HEALTHY ENGAGEMENT BETWEEN STAFF ANI	C
CLIENTS	34

THEMATIC GROUP #4: STRENGTHEN RE/INTEGRATION SUPPORT AND COMMUNITY-BASED SERVICES	35
ADDITIONAL RECOMMENDATIONS	36
CONCLUSION	37
REFERENCES	38

Acknowledgements

This research has been made possible through the support and dedication of many parties. We express our sincere thanks to all individuals and organizations engaged in the Butterfly study. First, we express our sincere thanks to our research participants for sharing their life stories and experiences. We are deeply grateful to the Butterfly research team, including Sreang Phaly, Phoeuk Phallen, Ou Sopheara, and Kang Chimey for their strong dedication to the study and steadfast efforts to collect, transcribe, and translate data for the study. Thank you to James Havey for serving as the main editor of the manuscript and for his ongoing contributions to the Butterfly research study.

We would like to thank Equitas Group, the original donor of the Butterfly research study, for their belief in the study. We also express our thanks to Imago Dei Fund, Love 146, Stronger Together, Tenth Church, Karakin Foundation, Change of Path, ACCI, and anonymous donors for their continuing financial support.

We appreciate each of the assistance programs that have partnered with Chab Dai in referring research participants to this study. Thank you to assistance programs for also providing their input regarding research findings and recommendations.

Agape International Mission (AIM), American Rehabilitation Ministries (ARM), Bloom Asia, Cambodian Hope Organization (CHO), Citipointe International Care and Aids, Daughters of Cambodia, Destiny Rescue, Garden of Hope in Cambodia, Hagar Cambodia, Health Care Centre for Children (HCC), Hope for Justice, International Justice Mission (IJM), Pleroma Home for Girls, Ratanak International, World Hope, & World Vision

In addition, we would like to thank Ms. Helen Sworn, Founder and International Director of Chab Dai, for her vision, direction, and enthusiasm for the research; Mr. Ros Yeng, Country Director of Chab Dai Coalition, for his support and encouragement; and Mr. Khchang Kimheng, Senior Finance Manager of Chab Dai Coalition, for his tireless efforts in adjusting the budgets and producing the financial reports for our donors.

Cover Photo: Sreang Phaly Cover Design: Sreang Phaly & Paul Austria







About the Butterfly Longitudinal Re/integration Research Project

Beginning in 2010, Chab Dai Coalition's Butterfly Longitudinal Re/integration Research Project (BLR) has been following the lives of 128 child & adult survivors of human trafficking, exploitation, and/or abuse. Since its inception, this study has sought to find out, 'what happens to survivors of human trafficking after they were assisted by an NGO and (in most cases) subsequently re/integrated back into the community? Is freedom truly *free*?' Through the BLR team's dedication to providing a safe platform for survivors to consistently share their voices and understandings, the team has been enlightened to the realities each individual of our cohort faces on a regular basis. It is our passion to, in turn, relay this to you—our ever-learning readers.

Thus, we recommend that stakeholders dive deeper through our many reports. To date, the BLR has produced *ten* reports, on: resilience, stigma, boys & men, and filial piety, to name a few. Please find all our previous and future publications at Chab Dai's Siobhan Miles Memorial Library & Resource Centre, or on our website for more information, videos, news updates from Butterfly! <u>www.chabdai.org/butterfly</u>.

We thank you in advance for taking the time to listen & learn with us. As always, please feel free to reach out to us with any questions, comments, and/or feedback you may have:

- Lim Vanntheary at <u>lim.vanntheary@chabdai.org</u> BLR Project Manager
- James Havey at james.havey@chabdai.org BLR Project Advisor

About the Authors



Dr. Laura Cordisco Tsai

Butterfly Consultant/Academic Advisor

Dr. Laura Cordisco Tsai is a social work practitioner and researcher specializing in human trafficking and gender-based violence. She is currently a Fellow at the Carr Center for Human Rights Policy at Harvard University. Dr. Cordisco Tsai has over 15 years of experience working in Southeast Asia, primarily in direct practice and consulting work with NGOs serving survivors of violence and exploitation. As a researcher, she conducts a combination of participatory, qualitative, and quantitative research, predominantly centering on the development of more empowering and effective services for people who have experienced human trafficking. She has served as the Academic Advisor for the Butterfly Longitudinal Study since 2015. She holds a BA from Brown University and MSSW and PhD from Columbia University.

Lim Vanntheary Project Manager lim.vanntheary@chabdai.org

Beginning work on the Butterfly Longitudinal Research in 2011 as part of Butterfly's original research team, Vanntheary has spent over eight years conducting interviews, analysing data, producing reports, and giving presentations. In 2015, Vanntheary became the Project Manager of Butterfly. She holds a double bachelor's degree in Sociology and English Education in addition to a Masters of Development Studies, all from the Royal University of Phnom Penh.





Nhanh Channtha Assistant Project Manager nhanh.channtha@chabdai.org

Channtha began working with the Butterfly research team January, 2014. She has a Bachelor's of Art in Sociology from the Royal University of Phnom Penh. On top of assisting in the leadership of the Butterfly Research Project, Channtha is also a Masters candidate in Holistic Child Development at Malaysia Baptist Theological Seminary where she studies research with vulnerable children, child protection, participation, and spirituality.

Meet the Butterfly Team

Sreang Phaly Project Administrator/Researcher sreang.phaly@chabdai.org

Phaly began working with the Butterfly research team January 30, 2013. Since then, Phaly has conducted field work, takes the lead in following-up with male participants, participates in analysis and authoring reports, and coordinates the study's data management system of over 4,500 files. He holds a Bachelor's degree in Sociology from the Royal University of Phnom Penh.





Phoeuk Phallen Researcher phoeuk.phallen@chabdai.org

Phallen graduated with a bachelor's degree of Sociology from the Royal University of Phnom Penh. She has been working in Butterfly Longitudinal Research Project since July, 2015. While in the field, Phallen conducts qualitative and quantitative data collection; & and when she's not in the field, Phallen follows-up with participants by, making referrals, arranging interviews, and keeping consistent and open contact. She also works with the data, by: transcribing, translating, entering, cleaning, & analysis.

Ou Sopheara Researcher ou.sopheara@chabdai.org

Sopheara began with the Butterfly team in March, 2016. His work specifically focuses on conducting interviews, building surveys, & data: transcription, translation, & analysis. In 2015, he graduated as a Bachelor of Sociology from Royal University of Phnom Penh's School of in Social Sciences and Humanities. Aside from research, travelling is Pheara's favorite activity.





Kang Chimey Researcher kang.chimey@chabdai.org

Upon completing her bachelor's degree in Psychology from Royal University of Phnom Penh in July 2017, Chimey began interning with Chab Dai's Butterfly team the following October, & her fulltime research position January, 2018 working with the team to conduct interviews, assist in data transcription, and analysis.

James Havey Project Advisor james.havey@chabdai.org

James is a Maryknoll Lay Missioner with a bachelor's degree in International Affairs: Third-World Studies from Marguette University. His first introduction to Butterfly was assisting in the authoring of the team's thematic paper "The Forgotten Cohort" in 2016. Since then, he has been working with the team to assist in: survey creation, data management & analysis, report production, capacity building, and stakeholder communications. All of this work leads to the end of the Butterfly Longitudinal Research Project in 2019, and through into its new paradigm beginning in 2020.



Executive Summary

Introduction

Shelter care is a large part of the current service delivery system for people who have experienced human trafficking and child sexual exploitation in the Greater Mekong Region (GMS). Though on the rise, services available for survivors in the community are still underdeveloped (Brunovskis & Surtees, 2012; Huguet & Ramangkura, 2007; Surtees, 2013). Ongoing reflection and assessment of the quality of shelter care is critical to ensuring that services are provided in an effective manner. The Butterfly Longitudinal Research (BLR) Project is a ten-year longitudinal research study led by Chab Dai that explores the re/integration¹ of male and female survivors of human trafficking and sexual exploitation. The study aims to understand the perspectives and experiences of survivors as they journey through rebuilding their lives. The BLR project began in 2011 when many participants lived in shelter care. Multiple interviews have been conducted with survivors each year since 2011, following participants through their stay in shelter care and their transition into the community. Because of this, the BLR data set contains rich data about survivors' perspectives on their experiences in shelter care through all stages of the process – from shelter intake through re/integration into the community.

The BLR project provides a unique opportunity to explore shelter care *from the perspectives of survivors themselves.* Although research about human trafficking and child sexual exploitation is growing, there is a lack of research from the perspectives of survivors (Curran, Naidoo, & Mchunu, 2017; Marcus, Horning, & Curtis, 2014; Richardson, Poudel, & Laurie, 2009; Russell, 2017). Much of the research on shelter care also presents the perspectives of social workers and/or foster parents; less research has revealed the views of clients themselves on their experiences in care (Leathers, 2003; Whiting & Lee, 2003). Understanding client perspectives is, however, crucial to the process of improving care. It affirms the dignity and rights of clients and ensures that clients' knowledge can be used to strengthen services (Cordisco Tsai, Seballos-Llena, & Castellano-Datta, 2017; Foot, 2016; Mitchell, Kuczynski, Tubbs, & Ross, 2009; UNIAP, 2008).

This paper presents the perspectives of BLR participants on their experiences in shelter care, along with *their recommendations* for improving shelter care. Throughout the paper, we tried to remain as faithful as possible to the recommendations, views, and insights shared by survivors themselves. This paper does not present the viewpoint of Chab Dai as an organization. Rather, our goal is to share the voices of clients who have participated in the shelter care system. We tried to represent survivors' perspectives and experiences as honestly and accurately as possible – because of our ethical responsibility and for the benefit of survivors and the counter-trafficking movement as a whole.

Over the years, agencies involved with Chab Dai's collaborative work have shared a desire to learn about the strengths and weakness of their programs and to understand survivors' long-term re/integration trajectories (Miles, Heng, Lim, Nhanh, & Sreang, 2014). We wrote this paper in direct response to this feedback from Chab Dai partner organizations. Providing shelter-based services for trafficked and exploited persons is incredibly complex. Service providers who do this work face a huge number of

¹ The term 're/integration' us used in place of 'reintegration' to show that survivors can choose to return to their home communities, or build a home in a new community of choice (Surtees, 2010).

challenges. We hope that the study findings can be used in a positive way to uplift the voices of survivors and improve the shelter care experience for everyone – including both clients and shelter staff.

Methodology

A total of 14 shelter facilities and 3 other service providers referred participants for this study. Referral partners assessed whether prospective study participants could be classified as victims of human trafficking and/or sexual exploitation. Although the BLR study contains a total of 128 participants, analysis for this paper focused on the experiences of 111 participants who had resided in shelter care.

Analysis for this paper focused on this research question: *What are the perspectives of survivors of human trafficking and sexual exploitation on their experiences in shelter care in Cambodia?* The research question was intentionally broad so that we could understand the entirety of survivors' experiences in shelter care – from initial intake in the shelter through the community re/integration process. To fully understand participants' views on their experiences in shelter care, data across several years was analyzed for this paper. Analysis for this paper focused on the 111 BLR participants who lived within a shelter at some point during their aftercare program. For all these 111 participants, we analyzed narrative summaries of all data collected between 2011 and 2014. We also conducted qualitative data analysis of 251 in-depth interviews conducted with participants in 2014, 2015, and 2016. Data was analyzed using a qualitative research method called phenomenology, which aims to understand the perspectives of people on their own experiences.

When analyzing the data, we found different patterns for various groups of participants. Firstly, a unique set of themes was identified for a sub-group of 10 female participants who were referred to/placed in one transitional shelter facility for adult women. These participants' experiences were so different from the other BLR participants that we decided to analyze the data for these ten women separately. Because of this, we present the findings from this sub-group of women as a separate case study in this report.

Additionally, we observed some differences between the experiences of male participants (n = 22) and the remaining female participants in the study (n = 79). As a result, data analysis was also conducted separately for these two groups. However, because of some similarities in the experiences of male participants and the majority of BLR female participants, the findings for these two groups are presented together, first. For this group, we divided the findings into four different stages: 1) shelter intake, 2) life in the shelter, 3) discharge/leaving the shelter, and 4) life in the community and provision of community-based services by shelters

Findings: Which themes were mentioned the most?

Table 1 is a list of all themes mentioned by BLR participants organized by the frequency they were mentioned throughout the interviews over the years. Divided into 3 categories, of: high, medium, and low, all themes mentioned in the "high" category were described

as being of high importance to participants (see Table 1). Following this Table 1, we will summarize each of the themes briefly along with providing direct quotations from the cohort.

Table 1: Frequency in which themes are mentioned by participants

HIGH

Appreciation for education and provision for basic needs Importance of caregiving and emotional support Lacking freedom and feeling trapped by many rules within the shelter Limited engagement with family while in the shelter Uncertainty about readiness to survive in the community Minimal involvement in decision making and planning regarding re/integration Conflicted feelings about life in the community compared to life in the shelter Limited follow-up and supportive services in the community Feeling loved like a family member in the shelter, but abandoned in the community Vulnerability in the community due to dramatic difference between shelter and community life

MEDIUM

Adjusting to the shelter environment over time Decision making regarding shelter transfer Staff speaking harshly and insulting clients Not believing clients Difficulties completing school after leaving the shelter Limitations in vocational training and business development services Client engagement in decision making regarding skills training Violence (emotional, physical, and/or sexual) in the shelter Staff difficulties managing boys' behavior and responding to violence Requesting to / desire to leave the shelter Violence in the community Unfulfilled expectations

LOW

Personal growth and maturation Feeling privileged to live in a shelter Delay in the provision of medical care Lack of professionalism among shelter staff Disempowerment in the shelter environment Mixed experiences with counseling in the shelter Violations of client confidentiality and lack of trust Influence of management on client experiences Impact of financial resources on shelter experiences Running away from the shelter Desire to return to the shelter Varied experiences with case closure

Findings – Male Participants and the Majority of Female Participants

Discrepancies about participant's exploitation, trafficking, and/or abuse histories

Interviews with BLR participants revealed several interesting patterns regarding the participants' exploitation histories. Though the majority of participants reported having been trafficked or exploited, some clients were adamant that they had never been abused prior to entering the shelter. In some cases, participants said that their case files noted that they had been exploited even though they said this was not the case. This tended two happen in one of two scenarios. First, sometimes sibling pairs were accepted to live in the shelter when one sibling had been exploited. In other cases, staff came into contact with youth who were very poor. It appears that staff felt these youths were in need of services and therefore these youth were invited to live in the shelter. All participants were, however, referred to the BLR study as clients with trafficking or exploitation cases.

"They brought to the hospital for checking up [virginity]. Then they said to record my case the same as my sister because they wanted to put more crimes on the perpetrator so that my sister could get the money as compensation from the court. But you know, I am an honest person. If nothing happens to me, I will say 'no.' I always reported 'no' (although I had been told to say 'yes')... They brought me there to see if I am still a virgin or not... Since I was very young, I did not understand what it meant. I just followed what they told me to do... After that, the doctor reported that I am still a virgin. However, my lawyer told the record person 'no need to document that I am still a virgin.' That's what I heard. This was the memory that I remembered the most during that time."

(*Dara*², *female*, 2016)

1. Shelter Intake

When describing their intake into shelter facilities, participants shared three main themes, which are shown below:

- Experiencing emotional distress upon initial shelter intake
- Adjusting to the shelter environment over time
- Decision making regarding shelter transfer

Experiencing emotional distress upon initial shelter intake

First, participants consistently described the transition to living in a shelter as a very challenging process, involving fear, apprehension, anger, and uncertainty. Many participants reported experiencing deep distress. Clients who were picked up in police raids found their shelter placement especially upsetting. Some felt they had been misled and lied to about their intake. Some participants also described the anguish experienced by their parents upon hearing that their children had been picked up in a police raid and placed in a shelter. Participants, especially younger ones, consistently reported that

² All participants' names in this report have been changed. This has been done due to the BLR's commitment to uphold our respondents' confidentiality, anonymity, and trust.

another key reason for their emotional distress upon shelter intake was that they missed their families.

"They [police] called the organization to come at that time and we went with them and I planned to jump out of the car at that time. I planned to jump out of the car and then I called to my family. My family drove a motorcycle around to look for me because they heard that I was arrested. They called me and my mother cried and until the evening they drove to find the shelter...Then I told them [shelter staff] that I wanted to go back home. They [shelter staff] said 'how can you go back home because the police already sent you here? We will be wrong if we do this.' If they allow us to go back home, we would go back to that work. Then they explained to me 'just stay here because you can have two snacks in the morning and evening; you will also have three meals in the morning, afternoon and evening.' They will also give us clothes and we need to stay here for 2 months. And you may allow us to be transferred to another center, they can change it for us, but we need to stay there for 2 months first. I said 'I don't want to go.' Three of us [clients] cried and we called to family and siblings and my mother drove a motorcycle to look for us and she asked 'where are you now?' and I said 'I don't know where we are. We are in an organization.' Then my mother heard that to stay in an organization meant they would sell us abroad, then my mother cried. My mother was so afraid and then she cried. When she prepared the clothes and she didn't see me, she cried. She used to see me at home and there was a noisy voice, but when I was arrested, it was quiet and she cried when she prepared clothes or my towel for taking a bath, she cried. I told her 'it is fine mom. I am fine living here. I will call you again tomorrow. Now they need to take back the phone because they don't allow us to use the phone inside the organization."

(Sothy, female, 2016)

Adjusting to the shelter environment over time

Many participants shared that they eventually adapted to living in the shelter environment over time. Some described their fears decreasing once they realized that people within the shelter did not plan to harm them. Some said that once their families had the opportunity to visit them in the shelter environment, family members' fears also decreased. Communication with their families helped some participants feel more comfortable. After clients had time to adjust to the shelter, some reached the point in which they did not want to leave the shelter.

Decision making regarding shelter transfer

"I was afraid [when first got to the shelter], as I heard people speak from mouth to mouth that NGO staff only do good in front of us, but they will actually do harm. I mean they will exploit our rights as children... Those words were not true when I came there. At first, my mother was very worried about me when she heard people tell her like that because she was afraid that she staff would harm me. However, she felt relieved when she came to visit me in the shelter. She saw that I was prettier and happier than before. Then she knew that those words were not true and she continued to let me stay in the shelter."

(Khema, female, 2016)

Most participants reported having little to no involvement in decision-making regarding their initial placement in a shelter, especially after police raids. Some reported that they were consulted when they were transferred from a short-term to a longer-term shelter. However, participants also shared that shelter staff tried to convince them to transfer to longer-term shelter facilities by describing the benefits associated with life in the shelter, including access to education, food, clothing, and greater security. Participants said that when presented options, shelters often emphasized the drastic differences in the level of services they would receive in the shelter vs. at home, which often led them to decide to transfer to another shelter. None of the participants shared any instances in which shelter staff helped them evaluate either the potential disadvantages of living in a shelter or potential advantages of returning home to live in the community before being transferred to a longer-term shelter facility.

"They said that it depended upon me. If I stayed in the shelter, I would have the chance to study and things would be easy. The teacher only said that. And a mum who was at the shelter also encouraged me... She told me that there were nice clothes and rice, which were already prepared. She said that living in the shelter was easy and you had the chance to study. She said 'if you live with your family, you cannot study, as you already saw. You were raped twice when you collected the rubbish. It might happen again a [third] time.' Then I decided to stay in the shelter. My parents asked me: 'do you agree to go?' I said 'yes, I do.' I said I wanted to go. I did not want to stay at home. I wanted to study, then they agreed with me. They respected my decision."

(Rachana, female, 2016)

2. Life in the Shelter

When describing their life in the shelter, participants shared 17 themes, shown below in Table 2.

Appreciation for education and provision for basic needs	Mixed experiences with counseling in the shelter
Feeling privileged to live in a shelter	Client engagement in decision making regarding skills training
Personal growth and maturation	Delay in the provision of medical care
Importance of caregiving and emotional support	Violations of client confidentiality and lack of trust
Staff speaking harshly and insulting clients	Violence (emotional, physical, and/or sexual) in the shelter
Not believing clients	Staff difficulties managing boys' behavior and responding to violence

Table 2: Life in the shelter

Lacking freedom and feeling trapped by the many rules within the shelter	Influence of management on client experiences
Limited engagement with family while	Impact of financial resources on shelter
in the shelter	experiences

Appreciation for education and provision for basic needs

Many participants expressed appreciation for the opportunities that living in a shelter gave them. When participants were asked which shelter services were the most helpful, the vast majority of participants said that they valued assistance in two primary areas: 1) educational opportunities and 2) shelters' provision for their basic material needs.

"Their service is good! They provided an opportunity for us to learn more. They celebrated birthdays for us, and they bought clothing for us before Khmer New Year and Pchum Ben day, and supported bathing supplies for us... The accommodation and meal were good enough! The education service was even better."

(Veha, male, 2016)

Feeling privileged to live in a shelter

Some female participants shared that shelter facilities provided a standard of living that made them feel privileged in comparison to their family and community members. Some participants shared that the quality of life they experienced in the shelter was comparable to wealthy children in the community, saying that they had more food and more educational opportunities than many children in the community. Several participants even indicated that living in a shelter made them feel like a "princess" due to the level of comfort they experienced in the shelter as "easy."

"[I] act as a princess. I do not do anything [at the shelter]. After eating, I just sleep. It is easy for me and it is not like other places where people need to work hard and do not have enough food to eat."

(Sim, female, 2016)

Personal growth and maturation

Some female participants shared that living in the shelter helped them mature and experience personal growth. Some clients expressed that living in a shelter helped them build confidence, develop their critical thinking skills, and learn how to manage their feelings. Although some clients did not initially understand the importance of support and training they received, over time they realized that they had learned a lot about problem solving, self-reliance, listening, perseverance, and building patience.

"At first I got short courses training and I thought they were too easy. I didn't see the advantage of it. I learned all the time and I didn't see any growth in myself. In fact, I was wrong to think like that. Those short course trainings made me as strong as I am nowadays. I can learn leadership traits. The trainer taught me the tips of success and I

apply it in my work. I really appreciate the shelter's work – that's why I learn from them... I learned how to face problems and engage in problem solving. Face the problem and solve it by ourselves. Learn to set a specific plan. Learn about self-trust. Though we have little hope, but we have to trust ourselves. We have to work harder. Though we don't know whether we will succeed or not, we must try to overcome it and taste it."

(Dary, female, 2015)

Importance of caregiving and emotional support

Participants strongly reinforced the importance of the emotional support in the shelter. Some clients described the shelter as a warm and loving environment, saying that they appreciated when staff were gentle, caring and consistent with them. Some shared that staff encouraged them through challenging and discouraging times. Many described their relationships with shelter staff as similar to family relationships. For some, the warmth and encouragement they received in the shelter surpassed what they had previously experienced in their own families. There were, however, exceptions. Some clients shared that they only received warmth and nurturance from one or two specific staff persons. In these cases, participants became especially attached to the staff person with whom they felt safe. Some boys noted that the care they received from housemothers differed from the care provided by foster parents, with boys sharing concerns about treatment from some foster parents.

"I take one staff from the shelter as my role model because that staff is a female, but she is not weak and [is] strong. I observed her work. I saw she didn't work only for money, but for loving children. She worked so hard with me. I was a child who had more serious emotional problems than others and I was really depressed, but she worked very hard together with me. Even I had problems in the nighttime, she came to meet me. I really love her."

(Dary, female, 2015)

Staff speaking harshly and insulting clients

Although clients felt that most staff spoke with them appropriately, participants said there were specific staff members who: used harsh words, yelled at them, took out their anger on them, and treated clients inappropriately. Clients stated that some staff spoke too harshly to them when they committed mistakes, blamed/judged them, and punished them instead of motivating them to change. Some said staff would complain about them and insult them behind their backs. Clients shared that some staff stigmatized them, telling clients they would not amount to anything other being sex workers. Some clients suffered in silence. Respondents said they did not feel comfortable reporting these behaviors to other staff, as they did not believe anything would be done to fix the problem.

"[X] was my caseworker, but I had to meet her once per week. Nowadays, I don't meet her anymore. In fact, she worked based on her emotions. If she feels good, she uses polite words to talk to me too. However, if she feels bad, she throws her anger on me. Whenever I met her, I always cry. In contrast, I never cried when I met other housemothers. I felt normal to meet them."

(Nary, female, 2016)

Not believing clients

Some described shelter staff as being biased against clients. Numerous participants stated that when disagreements arose between housemothers and clients, shelter staff tended to favor the perspective of housemothers. Clients felt that shelter staff did not exert enough effort to understand the clients' perspectives, but rather assumed that their fellow staff members were correct. Participants expressed concern that sometimes shelter staff were biased in believing some clients over others. Others described instances in which they felt that staff made false assumptions about them. For example, when certain clients broke rules, staff would make an assumption that all clients were likely to engage in similar behavior. Although participants acknowledged that shelter staff worked hard to provide opportunities for them, many felt that shelter staff did not trust them, which made them feel stressed.

"Last time, shelter staff said.... they didn't believe our [clients'] words. They believed only the shelter mother's word. After hearing that, it made me feel not good and I don't know whether they are helping the children or the shelter mother. We talked among our peers about this. We thought the children that came to live here need the staff's help, so if the staff didn't trust the children and only trusted the shelter staff, we felt disappointed." (Nary, female, 2015)

Lacking freedom and feeling trapped by many rules within the shelter

"They block us. Even the small window was blocked too. In short, they tried to prevent us. I know they are trying to keep us safe, but it is too much... They have a lot of rules. I cannot even see the outsiders when I go out. In the previous time, when I went to get a training course offered by the shelter, I saw a man and he looked at me too, so I have to meet them in the office because of it. It wasn't serious – I just looked at his face.... [We are monitored] 24 hours, except for the time I go to the restroom only. I am telling you the truth."

(Sokchea, female, 2015)

The most frequent topic raised by study participants was the excessiveness of rules and lack of freedom within the shelter context. Although participants said they appreciated the opportunities they had in the shelter, almost all participants said that the shelter's "rules are too much" and clients lacked freedom. Clients found the magnitude of rules within the shelter to be very stressful. Participants acknowledged that many rules and security procedures within the shelter were developed with the goal of keeping clients safe and that shelters had good intentions. However, most felt that the rules were disproportionate to the actual level of risk. They often felt bored within the shelter. Whereas female participants talked about this in terms of desiring more freedom in a general sense, boys stressed the importance of extracurricular activities outside the shelter. Some said that they felt trapped living in the shelter, like animals inside a cage. Clients acknowledged that different restrictions were applied to clients according to their adherence to shelter rules, but that they felt these differences were not consistently

applied for all clients. Participants shared that many clients broke shelter rules but kept it a secret from shelter staff.

Limited engagement with family while in the shelter

Many participants expressed a desire to have greater contact with their families while living in the shelter environment. Most clients shared that shelters were restrictive about allowing clients to meet their families in person or speak with their family over the phone. Many said they were only allowed to visit their families two or three times per year on major holidays and that their family members were not permitted to visit the clients at shelters. Additionally, shelters commonly held limits regarding the amount of time participants could communicate with their family members over the phone. Some shared that their inability to speak with their family members led clients to feel a deep sense of sadness that they did not openly express. While shelter staff sometimes became frustrated with clients for trying to break shelter rules in regard to contacting family members, some expressed that it was the strictness of the rules themselves and the clients' sadness at being separated from their families that led them to do so. While they appreciated all of the benefits of living in the shelter, they worried about the wellbeing of their family members who did not have access to all the resources that the clients themselves had. Some family members worried about their children while they were living in the shelter and clients themselves had to reassure their parents. From the participants' perspectives, shelter policies regarding engagement with family members centered primarily around concerns regarding client safety rather than facilitating healthy family relationships or preparing clients for returning to live with their families.

"I started to have more hope when I left [shelter A] to stay in [shelter B]. It was like I started to know how to read and write. Moreover, staying at [shelter B], I had more opportunities to meet my mom. I met her often... They brought me to visit my family at home, so it made me not to miss my mom a lot. I started to reduce my concern toward my mom. Then I realized I could focus more on studying."

(Dara, female, 2016)

Mixed experiences with counseling in the shelter

Participants shared very mixed experiences with counseling in the shelter. Some shared that they felt happy, safe, and warm when they spoke with a counselor. Some expressed that they found counseling helpful in learning how to talk about their feelings and process traumatic experiences in their past. Others shared neutral feedback about counseling, stating that it was neither helpful nor harmful. These participants described their interactions with counselors like normal interactions with anyone else, saying they did not do much in the sessions. Others presented a more negative portrayal of their experiences with counseling, saying that they did not trust counselors. Some clients felt that counselors had broken confidentiality. Others felt that counselors were too forceful in pushing them to answer questions that they were not comfortable answering.

"Counseling, it helps to cure me from my past stigma. I can stand by myself without reminding me of my past experience... Even if it reminds me, but I don't feel much pain. The shelter cured me."

(Dary, female, 2015)

"I didn't have much time to meet with the counselor because I study at outside for the full day. Anyway, I met with them, but we did not have much of anything to talk about. The counselor just asked me about my health and they led me to play games. I have problems, I still keep it in my mind. I don't want to talk with the counselor because I do not trust them. I am afraid that they will break my confidentiality, as my experience in the previous time was that my counselor raised my problem with another counselor. Anyway, I always discuss with my close friends when I have problems."

(Kesor, female, 2015)

Client engagement in decision making regarding skills training

Many participants reported participating in vocational training while living in the shelter context. Clients often described decision-making regarding skills training as a collaborative decision between shelter staff and clients. Participants said that they were often asked for their preferences in the type of skills they wanted to study prior to training. For some clients, this process was very positive. Others found the decision-making process challenging, as they had a hard time understanding their own vocational goals and tended to lose interest in training. Some clients saw shelter staff working hard to encourage clients to take specific steps toward training that the clients themselves did not want. Therefore, according to participants, while staff were motivated by a desire to help clients succeed in their vocational pursuits, these efforts were ultimately not successful if the clients themselves were unsure about their own goals or if the clients' priorities significantly differed from those of the staff.

"I have asked my case worker to change my skill a long time ago, but she said there are no other skills available for me besides tailoring. There were only two choices for me: tailoring and salon. I told her that I love neither tailoring nor salon. She asked me what I wanted to do. I replied that I love medical training at the public school. That's why she started to seek for it and sent me to study medical training at the public school."

(Naravy, female, 2015)

Delay in the provision of medical care

When asked to provide feedback on their experiences in shelter care, some female participants mentioned concerns regarding delays in the provision of medical care while living in the shelter. Participants noted that when they were ill, they would inform staff and request to see a doctor. However, numerous participants felt that staff were not responsive, at times leading to delays of several months before they were actually able to receive medical attention. Clients explained that receiving proper medical attention was important not only for their physical health, but also for their mental health as well, as having an undiagnosed chronic illness could be very stressful and anxiety-provoking.

"I got sick and I told them. They seemed not to really pay attention and care for me... I told them to bring my information to the leader/manager, but they did not do it. They delayed to inform for 3-4 months after my information was passed to them."

(Kesor, female, 2016)

Violations of client confidentiality and lack of trust

Although clients shared that shelters had guidelines around client confidentiality, they expressed that some staff did not consistently follow these guidelines. Numerous participants described incidents in which their confidentiality was broken, leading clients to lose trust in staff. Examples included revealing client case histories to other clients in the shelter, disclosing details of clients' stories to the staff's family members, and talking about the clients' histories in public fundraising events. It appears that there may have been different interpretations of confidentiality between clients and staff, as some clients felt their confidentiality was violated when staff shared about the clients' experiences with other staff. This highlights the importance of clear communication regarding the meaning of confidentiality.

"I used to tell a teacher... and then they seemed to share [my story] to one another. Since then I don't trust anyone else. I am speaking the truth to you teacher.... They didn't say the name.... During the time I got training, I went with staff. There were so many people and they spoke about it on microphone. She talked about problems of children from the organization. She said most of the children from organization have had bad past experiences, so on and so forth. She talked about their personal problems and she said some of the students experienced their fathers abusing them and some experienced stepfathers abusing them, etc. But when she says this it was also related to my problem. She said there was a young girl who came to tell me about the problem in her family and her uncle abused her. That was what she said and that was enough for me to know that she meant my story... Since then, I never trust any teacher, even my own counselor. I never tell everything to her. I distrust them... Teacher [Research Team], honestly I never trust someone. Even the teacher at the shelter also asked me. Even we stay together for 5 years, but I never tell them all the truth. I don't trust them. I am afraid they will share to others."

(Naravy, female, 2016)

Violence (emotional, physical, and/or sexual) in the shelter

Some participants disclosed to interviewers that they had experienced violence within shelters. One of the most consistent themes in boys' interviews pertaining to shelter care was the pervasiveness of violence within the shelter – primarily physical and emotional violence. Boys spoke of violence as being perpetrated primarily by other boys living in the shelter. Boys explained that older boys in the shelter committed violence against younger/smaller boys. Their experiences of peer violence within the shelter made some boys no longer want to live in the shelter; this led several boys to try running away. Although the vast majority of violence mentioned by participants was described as perpetrated by other clients, a few participants shared about violence perpetrated by staff.

"My friends in the shelter, they do not want to play with me anymore. I think it is because they are angry at me, as I touched their penis when we played together. My shelter friend commits physical violence on me and I also feel hurt emotionally by them."

(Veha, male, narrative summary, 2011)

Staff difficulties managing boys' behavior and responding to violence

Numerous boys talked about the difficulties that shelter staff had in controlling certain boys' behaviors. Participants described the behavior of other boys in the shelter as "bad," "rude," and "free," stating that boys fought each other and destroyed shelter property. Boys indicated that some shelter staff had difficulty controlling the clients' behavior. According to the participants, housemothers struggled to control boys' aggression and appeared to be hesitant or intimidated to challenge boys who were committing violence. Some boys felt that there was no one they could turn to for help within the shelter when they experienced abuse and bullying, as they doubted that shelter staff would intervene to keep them safe. The lack of trust meant that a culture of silence regarding boys' experiences continued.

"For me when I stayed there [in shelter], it was good but the only problem was caused by boys in the shelter... I think the rules in the shelter are not strong. They boys played a lot. Like the time I stayed there, many boys were fighting each other, especially Leap. He fought others a lot...They [housemothers] liked to take sides with the rude boys. I think shelter mothers agreed with those boys' actions because they didn't want those boys to make problems for them. It was like the shelter mother consoled them. I felt not good [that they] consoled someone who fights us... I think they should be transparent. Like when boys have an argument, they should call boys to say sorry to each other. One time, a boy hit another boy, but he didn't get punished, which made the boy who was hit feel sad. This boy had lots of thoughts over this. I used to stay there and feel that way too."

(Phearun, male, 2015)

Influence of management on client experiences

Clients highlighted the important role that shelter management played in shaping the experiences of residents, especially during times of leadership transition. Participants who lived in shelters during management changes identified distinct differences in how shelter staff interacted with clients before and after management transitions. When participants described these transitions, most emphasized changes in rules within the shelter and/or imposition of greater structure, which they felt caused difficulties for clients when they transitioned to living in the community. Some clients felt that some managers were biased in favor of staff, taking the side of staff when conflicts between staff and clients arose.

"The former staff were good and understood about children, not the housemother. They were on my side. When we had a fight or were mad at anyone, they comforted us, taught us and we had enough food to eat too. However, when we moved into the new shelter, there were new staff and new housemothers as well, so it was really complicated. To be frank, if the staff was still acting that way, it made it hard to live in shelter. Since the foreign director came, they did anything to fit housemothers' needs. I mean they believed the housemother more than the children, no matter what happened. Whether the children did something wrong or right, shelter staff still believed the housemother and assumed that they were right. So the children had to apologize! We felt like a pressure to us! Whether it was our fault or not, we had to apologize and it looked like when we lived at home. That made me miss my family more! I missed my family so much that I was mad. I was unhappy and it became stressful."

Impact of financial resources on shelter experiences

Participants discussed the impact that a shelter's financial resources had on their experiences within the shelter. Participants who had lived at multiple shelters described significant differences in the amount of resources and quality of facilities at different shelters. Participants also noticed how a shelter's own level of financial resources changed over time, impacting the clients' experiences within the shelter context. When shelters faced financial difficulties, this led to stress among clients, as they feared shelters closing.

"When I lived in the shelter in [province A], we had meals together and we ate group by group. In contrast, we have less food here and everyone eat meals with their fingers... The living place [shelter] in [province B] is hard to live in...the floor absorbs water and it flows into our sleeping place. The water comes out from the bathroom and flows into our sleeping place as we sleep on the floor. That home is old, so the bathroom always leaks during the rainy season."

(Suon, female, 2015)

3. Discharge/Leaving the Shelter

When talking about leaving the shelter, participants shared 4 themes:

Table 3: Discharge / Leaving the shelter

Uncertainty about readiness to survive in the community	Requesting to leave the shelter
Minimal involvement in decision making and planning about re/integration	Running away from the shelter

Uncertainty about readiness to survive in the community

Many participants expressed mixed feelings about leaving the shelter environment and returning to live in the community. Some reported feeling worried while living in the shelter about their readiness to live independently in the community, expressing uncertainty around how they would support themselves financially and whether or not they would be able to secure employment in the community. Another key concern shared by clients was a fear that they would not be able to continue with their schooling upon returning to live in the community, largely due to financial insecurity. Some clients shared that they had tried to explain their concerns to shelter staff, but not feel that the staff fully respected their fears.

"It [school fee] is really little now. If the organization pays for it, school director will discount some percentage for them. It is just about how much we pay for it. However, if I pay for it myself, school fees will increase strongly. It is really hard for me because I have no ability to pay for it... As I know, my case is going to close, so they do not want to help me anymore when I have reintegrated to community. So, my family has to support me. However, they will consider my family situation too. If the organization does not support me anymore, I will drop out of school because my family cannot support me. In short, it is based on my situation. They will not be happy if I give up school because they have supported me so far. My teacher tried to tell them that if the shelter does not help me, I will drop out of school because my family's income is just enough for one day. It seems like they are trying to help me. They help me as much as they can. I know that they will not announce it now, but the [school] teacher also tried to help me. She tried to persuade them."

(Kravann, female, 2014)

Minimal involvement in decision making and planning about re/integration

Although experiences varied across participants, the vast majority of participants – both male and female – reported engaging in little preparation for re/integration in the shelter environment and minimal participation in the decision-making process. When the BLR team asked clients about their plans for re/integration while living in shelters, most shared that they did not know and that they had not made any preparations for returning to the community. Many clients were unsure how long they would be allowed to stay. Once clients began to discuss re/integration with shelter staff, most reported that shelters made the decision of when it was time for the client to leave and informed the client that he/she needed to return home. Decisions regarding client re/integration appeared, from the participants' perspectives, to be influenced by external factors, such as internal deadlines regarding how long clients were allowed to stay in shelters and/or funding constraints. Lack of participation and lack of advance planning led to fear, anxiety, and confusion among clients.

"I did not want to leave the shelter yet, but my sister wanted to re/integrate. I did not know why she wanted to go out of the shelter. When she stopped schooling, she wanted to leave shelter right away. Moreover, my stepfather passed away, so she wanted to come live with my mother... They said that if the older sister moved out, then I, the younger sister, had to re/integrate as well."

(Achariya, female, 2015)

Requesting to leave the shelter

Some participants sought permission to leave the shelter. Family pressures to return home, hardships within the family, and sympathy for their parents were the most commonly cited reasons for participants to decide to leave the shelter. Clients shared that the process of getting approval to leave the shelter was an extensive one and at times led to conflict with staff.

"I asked to leave, but the duration of approving was so long. It was over a half year before I could leave... I was still asked and clarified the reasons. It did not mean that I asked to leave and then I was approved to leave suddenly. I was asked in case I might change to not leave or something like that. But it was still difficult for me. It was not easy like what they said. It was difficult in my family like what I told you... It was like they [staff] had no more patience for me because it was so often [that I asked to leave]. They had no more patience. I just let my mum pick me up from the shelter and we would be paid back for the expenses."

(Leng, female, 2016)

Running away from the shelter

Several participants reported running away from shelters. Disagreements with staff and perceptions of inappropriate treatment by staff were the most common reasons cited for running away. The decision to run away from the shelter was often described as a spontaneous decision, usually in response to a conflict within the shelter environment. However, some participants shared that a history of discomfort, disagreements with staff and other residents, and unhealthy dynamics that had bothered them over time eventually led them to run away. Once clients ran away, they often indicated that they did not speak with shelter staff again – either due to regret, anger, or fear of contacting staff.

"They [clients in the shelter] were considered [by staff] as disobedient, so the staff were angry with them... The staff responded badly too... The staff would ask 'did you go to school?' The kids did not know that the staff asked in a pretending way. They just answered 'I have never been at school.' It was weird... I did not like the way they did that. I ran out from the shelter to my home, but I didn't dare to go back. I ran out secretly. I asked them to leave procedurally, but the staff teased me, which made me angry, so I ran out of there... They said that when something happens, you just want to run. I then ran with only some clothes."

(Kakada, female, 2016)

4. Life in the Community and Community-Based Services

When describing their lives after leaving the shelter, participants shared 10 themes, as shown in Table 4.

Conflicted feelings about life in the community compared to life in the shelter	Feeling loved like a family member in the shelter, but abandoned in the community
Difficulties completing school and securing employment after leaving the shelter	Vulnerability in the community due to dramatic difference between shelter and community life

Table 4: Life in the community and provision of community-based services by shelters

Violence in the community	Desire to return to the shelter
Limited follow-up and supportive services in the community	Varied experiences with case closure
Unfulfilled expectations	

Conflicted feelings about life in the community compared to life in the shelter

When comparing life in the shelter to life in the community, participants shared mixed feelings. In the shelter, clients felt constrained by rules and lacked agency over their own lives. Clients reported that they did not feel as challenged to grow in the shelter because the shelter took care of all of their needs; however, life in the shelter was easier because they did not worry about meeting basic material needs. In the community, clients reported enjoying more freedom and independence. Participants reported satisfaction in not being constrained by shelter rules and pride in being able to take care of their own needs. However, they struggled to provide for daily subsistence needs in the community and life was harder in the community.

"Living in community is difficult, but I have more freedom than living in the shelter. I have freedom, so I can go anywhere I want. No one is against me, no one goes with me or limits my going out time. I'm not afraid to come back late and be blamed! But living in the shelter I have food to eat. People cook for me, so I don't care about food. Living outside has freedom, but [I'm] a bit tired and have many things to worry about.... I live in community and I have a job to do. I start to feel that I am grown up.... I am thinking about daily expenses for food and have to save money. I think about my future. The biggest burden for me is...I need to support my family a lot."

(Dary, female, 2015)

Difficulties completing school and securing employment after leaving the shelter

Although numerous participants shared they were successful in school while living in the shelter, many struggled to stay in school upon re/integration. Some participants found it difficult to concentrate on their education without the structure of the shelter environment. Some clients' family members pressured them to drop out of school. Family financial difficulties led participants to drop out of school to find work. However, many also struggled considerably to find sustainable employment and/or operate a successful business in the community.

"I don't have enough money for family spending: no food, not enough for morning, not enough for dinner. So I was often absent from class. I was able to go to school only 2

times per week. Therefore, I informed the teacher that I will stop. I cannot go to school anymore."

(Chivy, female, 2015)

Violence in the community

Numerous participants reported experiencing violence and abuse after returning to live in the community, primarily from family members and intimate partners. Clients described experiencing emotional and physical abuse from their parents, with some reporting very severe levels of abuse. Some participants reported witnessing violence within their families and throughout their community after returning to live at home. They shared that they often felt alone in dealing with the abuse, as they had limited contact with shelter staff in the community.

"When my mother cursed me, she will just curse 'if you want to be a prostitute girl, you can go or you want to sell your sex, just go.' But even if I didn't do this, but they [neighbors] will think that I do it because my mother always curses this terrible thing everyday. 'If you want to sell your sex, you can just go. Go away from my house.' It is hard for me... We were in front of the factory and she just cursed at me like this, but I didn't know how to stop my mother from cursing. That time even the village chief came to discipline her, but she didn't listen to him. She continues to curse at me... The last time when teachers from the shelter came and they told her not to curse me like this, it is embarrassing. And if she still curses like this, they will bring her and give her discipline/a warning. And then after the village chief came for 3-4 days, she hit us [her and her younger sister] instead. She hit us and only now, this past 3-5 months that my mother didn't hit me."

(Botum, female, 2016)

Limited follow-up and supportive services in the community

Participants shared that most of the support they received from shelters after returning to live the community consisted of financial assistance (cash and school expenses) and one-time help with material needs. Some reported receiving financial help for other emergency needs. Some clients were visited by staff, but the frequency of home visits varied substantially across participants, along with the clients' perceptions of the helpfulness of those visits; in some cases, this difference was due to client distance from city centers. While some reported receiving emotional support, the vast majority said that the assistance they received from shelters in the community was very limited, with minimal follow-up provided. Participants commonly felt let down/disappointed by the lack of support and follow-up in the community. Upon returning home, some felt that the shelter staff no longer cared for them. Several stated that they maintained stronger relationships with staff from other organizations than they did with shelter staff.

"My friends from the same shelter are also grumbling about this... They said the shelter said they would keep meeting us after we left. They said they will call once a month and if we ask for help, they will help us. But so far, they didn't call us... Totally speaking, they cared about us only in the beginning, but not in the later months."

(Sean, female, 2015)

Unfulfilled expectations

Some participants described a discrepancy between what they believed they had been promised by shelter facilities and what they actually received upon returning to the community. Both male and female participants shared their disappointment when the level of services provided in the community did not meet their expectations. Participants shared that they witnessed differences in the level and nature of support provided to clients from the same shelter, which also caused confusion and disappointment.

"They [shelter staff] brought me to [Province], but they didn't give me any money. They bought a bike that cost \$50 and a bag that cost \$5. In total, it cost \$55, but they noted in receipt a cost more than \$300. I was really angry and disappointed! ...She kept me there for a week of follow up and called check up only one time with me. She asked what is my job? Since then, I never heard anything from them. Even if they went to [Province], they didn't come to see me... They did like that to everyone! Not only me! Before she brought me back home, she told me that she will buy a sewing machine for me. After I arrived home, she told my mother that she didn't have the role to responsible for every problem I made. And I didn't get anything from her."

(Keo, female, 2016)

Feeling loved like a family member in the shelter, but abandoned in the community

Many participants described their relationships with shelter staff as akin to family relationships instead of professional relationships. While clients greatly valued the love they had received from staff while in the shelter, when they returned home to live in the community, they felt as if they lost a member of their family. Clients expected their relationships with shelter staff to continue in a similar manner after they returned to live in the community. In practice, clients shared that shelter staff rarely came to visit them in the community, leaving the clients to feel as if the people whom they had previously viewed as family members had abandoned them. Clients described these changes in their relationships with staff as painful, saying that it made them doubt whether staff had ever really cared for them.

"Sometimes I feel warm and sometimes when we live in the organization like this, we treat each other like brothers and sisters, parents and children. But when I left from the organization, no one called me. There was a time one mom called me, but I could not remember who she is but I told her 'Mom it seems like you just throw me away and never called to me' because I also missed them. I always called to them but they never called me back... Maybe that time they still followed up with me and they didn't end my case yet, but they seemed to not really communicate with me much... That time I felt really lacking warmth from them."

(Bormey, female, 2015)

Vulnerability in the community due to dramatic difference between shelter and community

The transition from life in a shelter to life in the community was a very dramatic change that was extremely challenging for clients. Participants described the long-term shelter environment as one in which their needs were taken care of and decisions were made on their behalf. However, when participants transitioned to living in the community, the standard of living and level of intervention that they were used to in the shelter context was gone. As a result, clients struggled to find ways to take care of their own needs and experienced conflict with their families. While many participants expressed appreciation for the care they received in the shelter, clients' narratives also revealed that their isolation from the community while living in shelter care hindered them from sustaining, developing, and strengthening the skills needed to navigate the financial and relational challenges they encountered in the community.

"Most of the victims who stayed in the shelter were not successful. They succeeded only 3 to 4 of them. Some of them are working in the organization. Some of them work at different places... They sometimes said that it was easy to live in the organization and they did not do anything. They have someone to take care them. They have food to eat. They have people to bring the food for them and they can sleep well. They can learn and so on. They thought that it was easy for them and when they go home, they think work at home is difficult for them. They speak badly to the members of the family."

(Nimul, female, 2016)

Desire to return to the shelter

While many participants expressed mixed feelings about life in the community compared to life in the shelter environment, some shared that they wanted to return to live in the shelter again. Male participants were especially likely to express that they wanted to return to the shelter due to violence in their homes and/or a lack of social and emotional support in the community.

"When they brought me to Phnom Penh, I cried because I did not want to live there. I cried and asked them to come back home until I lived there for 1 month or a half month, I started to feel happy living there. Then I did not want to come back home anymore. Now I have been reintegrated home and when I face problems, I want to go back to the shelter." (Atith, male, 2015)

Varied experiences with case closure

Processes for closing clients' cases varied. Some reported that they simply lost contact with shelter staff without ever discussing a formal case closure. Some shared that shelters formally closed their cases immediately upon their return to the community, while others received follow-up support in the community from shelter staff before case closure. Additionally, clients shared that they were confused about the rationale for case closure, especially when the rationale for closing cases seemed to differ across clients from the same organization. Participants commonly described case closure as an end to a relationship and/or a sense of being discarded. Some felt hurt by the case closure process, and were worried about their capacity to survive on their own.

"The shelter came... to close my case. They said they will stop visiting me. For a while, they will visit me one time. They said now I have the right to go wherever I want. They said they will stop coming and complete the deadline already... I didn't know how to think about them. I also asked them what if I got a lot of violence within my family. They said then just leave it to the local authorities to solve this. I said it is good that I still have your organization [Butterfly Research Team]. What if you also finish your deadline with me? It will be finished with me as well. I don't know who I can meet with... I worried that I will have another case like before again. I am afraid of the violence and my mother will hit me. And because she knows that the organization stopped with me, she can do whatever she wants. That is why if you also stop with me, I don't know who I can report to. I only have one [phone] number and if they stop contacting to me, I don't know what to do. That is why I don't want you to stop with me... I still want to continue to meet with you because the shelter already finished their deadline with me, so please don't finish your meeting with me as well."

(Suon, female, 2016)

Findings – Case Study of Participants in a Shelter for Adult Women

As noted earlier, the experiences of 10 adult women in a transitional shelter facility were so unique from the rest of study participants that these women's experiences are discussed separately in their own case study. The group of these adult women described their experience with 6 themes (see Table 5).

Feeling forced to live in a shelter	Limitations in vocational training and business development services
Disempowerment in the shelter environment	Desire to leave the shelter
Lack of professionalism among shelter staff	Limited follow-up and lack of interest in contacting shelter staff in community

Table 5: Case Study Findings

Feeling forced to live in a shelter

Women in this group overwhelmingly contested their classifications as "victims" by police and shelters. Adult women who were not trafficked expressed strong concerns about being placed in shelters for exploited persons, stating that they were forced to stay in a shelter against their will. Clients felt that they were brought to a shelter in order to "correct" their behavior. Decisions to keep women in a shelter against their wishes caused stress for women and interfered with their ability to care for their dependents, such as their children. Women's experiences of being forced to stay in shelters led them to distrust shelters and other service providers, as they felt they had been deceived and that staff did not listen to them.

"No volunteer. And they forced us. Both the mothers of Seda and Chea [names changed] called and cried until they lost consciousness, but they [the shelter staff] did not care. They did not care about their parents. Their parents cried until losing consciousness. Their daughters also cried and wanted to jump. However, they did not care, hear, or know anything besides bringing us to Phnom Penh. I did not know what the problem was. I thought maybe they brought us to sell us because it looked like kidnapping. They did not care, not even calling to tell our mother that we were fine and happy, so please do not be worried with us. They took away phones from us and they did not allow us to speak although they [our parents] called us worried."

(Da, female, 2016)

Disempowerment in the shelter environment

Women described the shelter environment as disempowering on several levels. Women said that staff talked down to them and spoke to them in a judgmental and condescending manner. Women expressed that staff attitudes toward clients created an environment in which it was not possible for clients to speak openly about their concerns. Women said that although staff claimed that women made decisions for themselves in the shelter, the clients felt that shelter staff imposed their wishes upon clients.

"I think it [vocational training] wasn't helpful because I felt like they forced me to learn that skill, as I wanted to learn something else... I wanted to learn computer and English. They said I didn't finish school, and no high school diploma, no 12th Grade. They said such women like me should learn the skill they assigned for me to learn. Everybody else took that skill, so I followed suit... To put it plainly, an NGO like the shelter, before they give us something, they command us to do what they want first... The shelter said that I made my own decision. I learned how to do makeup, style hair, and sew at the shelter, but I hate sewing."

(Da, female, 2014)

Lack of professionalism among shelter staff

Participants mentioned several complaints about the professionalism of staff, including concerns about staff being biased against certain clients, lack of follow-through with promised actions, and unprofessional speech. Participants expressed concerns that staff did not consistently follow through with their promises and shared that communication with shelter staff was confusing. Some said that they did not feel that staff were motivated out of a genuine desire to help clients, but rather to serve their own self-interest. They suggested that the shelter hire more professional staff.

"I think that they [services NGO provided] are all fine and good, but related to staff, they are weak... because they always listened to only one party when there were problems. Other parties they did not listen to their reasons and got angry with them... For example, I tell you that it is good, so you think that it is good too and you do not ask for the reason... When they called us to ask for the reason, they acted dissatisfied. Moreover, they did not pay attention or want to listen when we spoke. If they like that person, they focus on that person."

(Kanya, female, 2015)

Limitations in vocational training and business development services

Services focused heavily on vocational training (VT) and business development. Women questioned the practical benefit of being asked to work at the shelter's social enterprise, as the work was not related to their VT and was not applicable to market needs in the community. Women expressed significant concerns regarding the quality of instruction they received in the VT program and the skill level of the trainers. After completing the training, women felt unprepared to launch a businNo table of contents entries found.ess in the community, stating that they had not developed enough skills. Although they appreciated that financial assistance was offered for business development, they saw many of their friends fail in their business endeavors. Women suggested that industry experts provide skills training instead and that the training be more intensive.

"It is because I see most of my friends fail with their business [laugh]. The majority of them closed their shop and stayed at home. They decided to close their shop or offer it to someone else and stay at home instead... When I asked them, they said that the income does not meet with the expenses for the rental shop and electricity. They want to change their job! When I heard that, I feel depressed and don't want to do it anymore... When the customer comes one time and sees that we cannot do our job well, they will not come again later."

(Chea, female, 2015)

Desire to leave the shelter

Participants expressed a desire to leave the shelter environment, with many stating that they wanted to leave as quickly as possible. When women felt that they were forced to enter a shelter, they naturally reported that they did not want to stay in the shelter. However, women who ran away from the shelter expressed some regret that they missed out on an opportunity to study. They would have preferred to live at home and study at the center.

"When they brought us [to the first shelter] from the police station... they only told us that they will send us to sleep at their place for a night and they will send us back home in the morning of the next day. We stayed there from that time on when we arrived.... I don't really remember how long I stayed there... It was about 1-2 months, I think, as I remembered. After that, they allowed the adult women to choose if they wanted to change their job/career. If we wanted to change, they sent us to the shelter to join vocational training. When I arrived at the shelter for 2 nights, we ran away. We secretly prepared the plan and ran away from the organization... There I had an opportunity to learn a skill and plus I also got a salary. However, when my friend asked me to run away with them, I just followed them... They [the other residents] did not like to stay there. For me, it was fine to stay there because I wanted to learn the skill, but when my friends ran away from there, I would be alone. So I decided to leave with them. If I continued staying there, I would get my salary and I would be able to learn a skill too...I feel regret about it."

(Nearidei, female, 2016)

Limited follow-up and lack of interest in contacting shelter staff in community

Women in this group provided very little feedback on how shelters facilitated the community re/integration process. Many women said that they did not want to have contact with the shelter after returning home. Women shared concerns that if shelter staff accompanied them to their homes, community members would judge them for being associated with a counter-trafficking NGO. Although a few participants mentioned receiving helpful community-based financial support, most participants in this group shared that after they returned to live in the community, the shelter provided very little to no follow-up support.

"I did not want my reputation to be bad because there was an organization that sent me home. The word organization – they had to help and what was I that was wrong? They said they brought me to my home, so my neighbors would ask what I was that was wrong and why there was an organization that sent me there... I felt embarrassed. Although I was fatherless and I was poor, so when I went to live in the organization, they also did not believe me.... They [neighbors] do not speak ill about me, but when they saw that the organization sent me there, they knew I worked for a bad workplace."

(Da, female, 2016)

Twenty Recommendations from Participants

During the study, BLR team members asked participants for their recommendations for improving services, including shelter care. Here we present the recommendations given by research participants themselves about how to strengthen shelter services. Research participants shared a total of 20 recommendations for improving shelter services. These 20 recommendations can be grouped into four general over-arching categories: 1) Promote client agency and adopt an empowerment-based approach; 2) Ensure that the shelter environment is responsive to the needs and priorities of clients; 3) Foster healthy engagement between clients and staff; and 4) Strengthen re-integration support and community-based services. Each of these recommendations is described separately below.

Interestingly, male participants provided only one recommendation (#9) for improving their experiences in care – i.e. separate boys into smaller groups in order to protect the most vulnerable boys in care. Clients involved in the case study of a shelter for adult women provided two recommendations: do not force clients to stay in the shelter (#4) and strengthen vocational services within the shelter (#20). The other female participants (those not in the case study) provided the remainder of recommendations.

The recommendations provided by participants are not arbitrary. The recommendations are consistent with human rights-based approaches, approaches to trauma-informed care, the social work Code of Ethics, and principles of practice released by other stakeholders in the counter-trafficking sector (Andreatta, Witkin, & Robjant, 2015; NASW, 2018; Rende Taylor & Latonero, 2018; Safe Horizon, 2018; United Nations General Assembly, 1948; 1989). The parallel between survivors' recommendations and best practice signify that clients themselves know what their rights should be. Below we summarize all 20 recommendations in these 4 categories.

THEMATIC GROUP #1: PROMOTE CLIENT AGENCY AND ADOPT AN EMPOWERMENT-BASED APPROACH.

- 1. Listen to clients and be receptive to their input. Ask for their ideas and act on them: Participants wanted to speak more openly with shelter staff about their experiences, concerns, and recommendations for improving care. They wanted shelter staff to understand that their viewpoints were valid and put their ideas into action.
- 2. Facilitate client participation in decision making and planning about their own lives: BLR participants shared that they wanted to participate in decision making about their own experiences in care. They said that clients have different needs, priorities, and interests and that clients should have the opportunity to make decisions about what is best for them.
- 3. Be careful about classifying clients as "trafficked" or "exploited" if clients assert that they were not exploited: Participants requested that staff listen to clients regarding their own characterization of their experiences and not let their assumptions regarding the clients' situations bias them toward a specific interpretation of clients' experiences that may not be accurate.
- 4. Don't force clients to stay in a shelter: Participants shared that they believe that shelters should not force clients to stay against their will. If clients want to leave, they should be allowed to do so leaving space in the shelter for those who genuinely want to be there.
- 5. *Provide services individualized to the person:* Participants wanted services to be individualized to the interests, capabilities, and goals of each client. Clients did not want to be boxed into a narrow set of options that others assumed would be best for them. They wanted services to be sensitive to their own wishes and priorities.

THEMATIC GROUP #2: ENSURE THAT THE SHELTER ENVIRONMENT IS RESPONSIVE TO THE NEEDS AND PRIORITIES OF CLIENTS

6. Bridge the gap between the shelter and the outside world. Ensure that clients' participation in care equips them with the skills needed to live outside of the shelter: Clients recommended that shelters focus more on preparing them to live in the community. Some recommended that life in the shelter should not be too "easy" for clients – i.e. it should mimic real life more. Participants suggested that staff equip clients with more knowledge/skills that are needed to engage in the real world and that

re/integration planning start from the beginning. Clients suggested that more transitional facilities be available.

- 7. Strengthen engagement with families while clients are in shelter care: Participants suggested that clients be able to maintain relationships with their family members while in care. Clients wanted to feel that shelter staff members genuinely cared about their families and cared about the clients' desire to have greater contact with their families. When the ultimate objective is re/unification, greater engagement with families throughout the process and greater support in the community are needed.
- 8. Reconsider rules within the shelter context: Given the cost to victims themselves, clients wanted shelters to re-evaluate the necessity of certain rules. It is suggested that shelters reflect on which rules are effective in facilitating healthy recovery and re/integration, and which rules undermine the autonomy of trafficked persons and therefore hinder the recovery process. Clients want the opportunity to participate in developing rules and systems within the institutions in which they are living.
- 9. Separate boys into smaller groups to protect the vulnerable: Interestingly, boys provided only one recommendation. Boys suggested that shelters separate boys into smaller groups to protect the most vulnerable boys in care. When all boys were placed together, clients felt that younger and more defenseless boys were victimized by older and more aggressive boys in care. They wanted staff to think carefully about which boys could live together in a healthy way and they wanted staff to protect them from violence in care.

THEMATIC GROUP #3: FOSTER HEALTHY ENGAGEMENT BETWEEN STAFF AND CLIENTS

- 10. Trust clients more: Clients expressed that it was important for them to trust staff, but they said that they wanted staff to extend more trust back to clients as well. Participants wanted to know that staff members would believe them and take their words seriously. Clients did not want staff members' lack of trust in clients to lead shelters to adopt rules that were not proportional to the actual level of risk.
- 11. Don't speak harshly or talk down to clients: Participants expressed that they wanted staff to speak gently and kindly to them and wanted staff to act as positive role models instead of tearing them down. They wanted staff not to humiliate or shame them.
- 12. Don't take out your stress or negative emotions on clients: While participants did not fault staff for struggling with the pressures of their work, they asked that shelter staff stop taking out their own problems on clients, such as venting their anger/frustration on clients or blaming clients for problems.
- **13.** Don't punish or threaten clients when they make mistakes: While participants admitted that clients made mistakes, they wanted staff members to help motivate them to improve without threatening them or punishing them harshly for their mistakes. They felt that harsh punishment only demotivated and hurt clients rather than helping them grow.
- 14. Be mindful of clients' trauma histories and engage with clients in a traumainformed manner: Participants wanted staff to exhibit sensitivity to the clients'
victimization histories and "difficult" pasts. They wanted staff to understand their backgrounds and adapt their approaches to working with clients to show extra sensitivity when interacting with them. Further training and clinical supervision regarding trauma and trauma-informed approaches to care are recommended.

15. Provide services in a consistent and fair manner to all clients: Participants requested that shelter staff be consistent in providing services equitably with all clients. Clients suggested that favoritism not lead to differential treatment between clients. Training, monitoring, and clinical supervision are recommended to ensure consistent adherence to care standards.

THEMATIC GROUP #4: STRENGTHEN RE/INTEGRATION SUPPORT AND COMMUNITY-BASED SERVICES

- 16. Provide support and services to family members: One of the most consistent recommendations from participants was that clients wanted shelters to provide services and support directly to their family, not just to the clients themselves. Participants expressed that the provision of community-based support for their families would benefit the family and would also be beneficial in the client's own recovery and re/integration process.
- 17. Phase out support more incrementally: While participants appreciated the care they received in the shelter, many described the re/integration and/or repatriation process as rushed and not thoroughly thought through. Many said they were not involved in the re/integration planning process and shelters made decisions on their behalf. They described life in the shelter as easy and said they had limited contact with their families in care. The transition "home" was simply too abrupt for many survivors. It is strongly recommended that shelters phase out services more gradually. Clients need more transitional support throughout the process of re-entering the community that gradually declines over time.
- 18. Provide emotional support to clients and their families through their transition into the community: Another very consistent point of feedback from participants was the importance of emotional support during the process of transitioning to life in the community. When the level of emotional support quickly declined upon re/integration, it was too abrupt for clients to cope. Social and emotional support must be provided to both the client and their family, as re-entry is an enormous adjustment for the entire family.
- 19. Provide more community-based services: Participants recommended that more services be provided to clients in the community. Clients would greatly benefit from having a service system that includes shelter care, but also includes other models and mechanisms for accessing services that are individualized to their needs and personal situations. Advocacy will likely be required with donors to increase resources for community-based care.
- 20. Ensure that training programs equip clients with marketable skills sufficient to obtain employment. Prioritize employment-related assistance for clients: Access to stable employment was a high priority for clients. Participants suggested improvements to vocational services- i.e. not forcing clients into training that is not useful/of interest, improving the quality of training, and ensuring that any training equips them with marketable skills and connects them to viable opportunities in the market. Participants

wanted their goals, interests, and aptitudes to be taken into consideration in determining an individualized plan to strengthen their employability skills and wanted support from staff with specialized expertise in vocational development.

Additional Recommendations

In addition to the suggestions provided by BLR participants themselves, several other recommendations have been identified based upon the experiences of BLR participants. While survivors themselves did not offer these recommendations, they are provided in the spirit of reflecting on the experiences and narratives shared by survivors (see below).

- 21. Provide support and training for shelter staff pertaining to secondary and vicarious trauma: Service providers who work with victims of trafficking and exploitation are at risk for experiencing burnout and secondary/vicarious trauma. Research suggests that regular clinical supervision, peer support systems, continuing education/professional development, caseload management, diversification of staff responsibilities to minimize trauma exposure, and access to mental health resources are helpful strategies for addressing burnout and secondary trauma among staff. A healthy and supportive work environment leads to greater satisfaction and health among workers and enhanced service delivery to clients.
- 22. Integrate services for trafficked and exploited persons with broader social welfare and child protection systems. Ensure adherence to care standards: The Royal Government of Cambodia has issued numerous standards for residential care, including a preference for family- and community-based care. The development and implementation of care standards, accreditation of all residential care centers, planned and random inspections, and systems for monitoring the quality of care are basic foundations to care. Adherence to standards will require coordination and collaboration between shelters and existing social welfare systems.
- 23. Continue to assess and refine services to ensure that boys' care needs are met: Study findings revealed both similarities and differences in the experiences of boys and girls in shelter care. Fewer services are, however, available for male survivors of trafficking/exploitation, less research exists regarding services for trafficked men and boys, and research has revealed concerns about gender bias in care. Greater attention should be paid to the specific needs and priorities of sexually exploited boys, as well as the development of gender-sensitive models for providing services for trafficked and exploited boys.
- 24. Strengthen systems for communicating regarding confidentiality and maintaining confidentiality: BLR participants raised concerns regarding confidentiality – including violations of confidentiality, as well as confusion among clients about the meaning of confidentiality. Detailed and careful communication must exist between service providers and clients regarding the meaning of and limits to confidentiality. It is recommended that workers revisit the nature and limits of confidentiality repeatedly throughout the relationship with the client and that clients be offered the opportunity to continually ask questions about the boundaries of confidentiality if they have concerns.
- 25. Strengthen systems pertaining to screening for, preventing, reporting, and responding to abuses in care: Proper systems and training should be in place to prevent, monitor, collect reports/complaints, and respond to violence in care. Specialized

trainings should be conducted for staff regarding the background and experiences of clients coming into care, risks for abuse, warning signs, assessing risk, detecting abuse, and appropriately responding to suspected abuse allegations. Strong client protection policies should be in place. Formal complaint systems in which incidents can be reported anonymously to independent persons outside the organization are recommended. Clients should be informed of their rights and mechanisms for filing complaints. An ongoing monitoring system is needed to ensure measures to protect clients from violence are effective.

- 26. Strengthen evidence-informed models for providing mental health services in the Khmer cultural context: Professional counseling training is recommended for the appropriate staff. While Western models of counseling are increasingly being taught in Cambodia, evaluations of Western-influenced mental health interventions have shown mixed results. Further attention should be directed toward culturally appropriate models for providing mental health services in the Khmer context. Given the mixed feedback of participants on their experiences in counseling, further research should be conducted to understand the treatment modalities that survivors responded to positively and negatively.
- 27. Implement culturally congruent client-centered and rights-based approaches to serving clients: MoSVY guidelines state that a victim-centered and rights-based approach should be used when serving trafficked persons. Implementing a client-centered and rights-based approach involves placing survivors at the center of decision-making about their own lives and respecting the voices and choices of clients. Questions, however, remain of how to implement rights-based approaches within the Khmer context. Further attention should be directed toward how to implement client-centered, rights-based approaches within the Khmer cultural context, with Khmer leadership at the forefront of such efforts.

Conclusion

The provision of shelter-based services is an incredibly complicated and challenging endeavor. Research evidence regarding effective models of care for trafficked and exploited persons are still lacking (Hacker et al., 2015). Service providers involved with Chab Dai's collaborative work have expressed a desire to learn about how to strengthen their programs and position their clients for long-term success (Miles et al., 2014). Analysis for this paper was launched in direct response to this feedback from partner organizations. As referenced earlier, our goal in this report is to amplify the voices of survivors on their own experiences rather than to represent the viewpoints of Chab Dai. We would like to see the findings from this analysis promote reflection and dialogue within the counter-trafficking community around efforts to strengthen the social service system for trafficked and exploited persons, including shelter care. Ultimately, we hope that this study's findings can be used constructively to uplift the voices of survivors and enhance the shelter care experience for both clients and shelter staff.

References

- Aberdein, C., & Zimmerman, C. (2015). Access to mental health and psychosocial services in Cambodia by survivors of trafficking and exploitation: A qualitative study. *International Journal of Mental Health Systems*, *9*(1), 16.
- Adams, C. (2011). Re-trafficked victims: How a human rights approach can stop the cycle of revictimization of sex trafficking victims. *The George Washington International Law Review*, 43, 201-234.
- Alberta Government (2017). *LGBTQ2S Youth Housing and Shelter Guidelines*. Alberta, Canada: LGBTQ2S Youth Homelessness Working Group.
- Ahuja, T. (2013). Issues and challenges in the rehabilitation of children rescued from prostitution in Deonar Special Home, Mumbai. (MA Thesis) Mumbai: Tata Institute of Social Science.
- Andreatta, C., Witkin, R., & Robjant, K. (2015). *Trafficking survivor care standards*. London: Human Trafficking Foundation.
- Archard, D. & Skivenes, M. (2009). Hearing the child. Child & Family Social Work, 14(4), 391-399.
- Arensen, L. & Quinn, I. (2005). *Reintegration assistance for trafficked women and children in Cambodia: A review.* Phnom Penh: The Asia Foundation.
- Artadi, E., Bjorkman, M. & La Ferrara, E. (2011). *Factors of vulnerability to human trafficking and prospects for reintegration of former victims: Evidence from the Philippines*, mimeo, Bocconi University.
- Asquith, S., & Turner, E. (2008). *Recovery and reintegration of children from the effects of sexual exploitation and related trafficking*. Geneva: Oak Foundation Child Abuse Programme.
- Attar-Schwartz, S. (2017). Experiences of victimization by peers and staff in residential care for children at risk in Israel from an ecological perspective. In A. V. Rus, S. R. Parris, & E. Stativa (Eds.), *Child Maltreatment in Residential Care: History, Research, and Current Practice* (pp. 269-299). Cham: Springer.
- Attar-Schwartz, S. (2014). Experiences of sexual victimization by peers among adolescents in residential care settings. *Social Service Review*, 88(4), 594-629.
- Attar-Schwartz, S. (2008). Emotional, behavioral and social problems among Israeli children in residential care: A multi-level analysis. *Children and Youth Services Review, 30*(2), 229-248.
- Augsberger, A. & E. Swenson (2015). "My worker was there when it really mattered": Foster care youths' perceptions and experiences of their relationships with child welfare workers. *Families in Society: The Journal of Contemporary Social Services, 96*(4), 234-240.
- Baker, L., Cunningham, A., & Male, C. (2002). *Peer-to-peer aggression in residential settings: Increasing understanding to enhance intervention*. London: Centre for Children and Families in the Justice System.
- Bales, K. & Choi-Fitzpatrick, A. (2012). The anti-slavery movement: Making rights reality. In A. Brysk & A. Choi-Fitzpatrick (Eds.), From human trafficking to human rights: Reframing contemporary slavery (pp. 195-216). Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.
- Balsells, M. Á., Fuentes-Peláez, & Pastor, C. (2017). Listening to the voices of children in decision-making: A challenge for the child protection system in Spain. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 79, 418-425.
- Barter, C., Renold, E., Berridge, D., & Cawson, P. (2004). *Peer violence in children's residential care.* Basingstoke: Palgrave.
- Barusch, A., Gringeri, C., & George, M. (2011). Rigor in qualitative social work research: A review of strategies used in published articles, *Social Work Research*, 35(1), 11–19.
- Bass, J., Bearup, L., Bolton, P., Murray, L., & Skavenski, S. (2011). *Implementing trauma focused Cognitive Behavioral Therapy (TF-CBT) among formerly trafficked-sexual exploited and sexually abused girls in Cambodia: A feasibility study.* Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health and World Vision Cambodia.

- Bearup, L. S. (2016). Reintegration as an Emerging Vision of Justice for Victims of Human Trafficking. *International Migration*, 54(4), 164-176.
- Beckett, C., Maughan, B., Rutter, M., Castle, J., Colvert, E., Groothues, C., & Sonuga-Barke,
 E. J. S. (2006). Do the effects of early severe deprivation on cognition persist into early adolescence? Findings from the English and Romanian Adoptees Study. *Child Development*, 77, 696–711.
- Bell, M. (2002). Promoting children's rights through the use of relationship. *Child & Family Social Work, 7*(1), 1-11.
- Bell, H., Kulkarni, S. & Dalton, L. (2003). Organizational prevention of vicarious trauma. *Families in Society*, *84*(4), 463-470.
- Berelowitz, S., Clifton, J., Firimin, C., Gulyurtlu, S., & Edwards, G. (2013). *If only someone had listened: The Office of the Children's Commissioner's Inquiry into child sexual exploitation in gangs and groups final report*. London: Office of the Children's Commissioner.
- Berman, J. S. (1996). No place like home: Anti-Vietnamese discrimination and nationality in Cambodia. *California Law Review*, *84*(3), 817-874.
- Betancourt, T. S., Brennan, R. T., Rubin-Smith, J., Fitzmaurice, G. M., & Gilman, S. E. (2012), Sierra Leone's form child soldiers: A longitudinal study of risk, protective factors, and mental health. *Journal of American Child Adolescent Psychiatry*, 49(6), 606-15.
- Birch, M. & Miller, T. (2000). Inviting intimacy: The interview as therapeutic opportunity. *Journal of Social Research Methodology*, *3*(3), 189-202.
- Bit, S. (1991). *The warrior heritage: A psychological perspective of Cambodian trauma*. El Cerrito: Seanglim Bit.
- Bjerkan, L., Dyrlid, L., Nikolic-Ristanovic, V., & Simeunovic-Patic, B. (2005). A life of one's own: Rehabilitation of victims of trafficking for sexual exploitation. Oslo: Fafo.
- Block, S. D., Oran, H., Oran, D., Baumrind, N., & Goodman, G. S. (2010). Abused and neglected children in court: Knowledge and attitudes. *Child Abuse and Neglect, 34*, 659–670.
- Bober, T. & Regehr, C. (2005). Strategies for reducing secondary or vicarious trauma: Do they work? *Brief Treatment and Crisis Intervention*, 6(1), 1-9.
- Boothby, N., Crawford, J., & Halperin, J. (2006). Mozambique child soldier life outcome study: Lessons learned in rehabilitation and reintegration efforts, *Global Public Health*, 1(1), 87-107.
- Braitstein, P., Ayaya, S., Nyandiko, W. M., Kamanda, A., Koech, J., Gisore, P., ... Ayuku, D. O. (2013). Nutritional status of orphaned and separated children and adolescents living in community and institutional environments in Uasin Gishu County, Kenya. *PLoS One*, 8(7), e70054.
- Braun, V. & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *3*(1), 77–101.
- Brennan, D. (2005). Methodological challenges in research with trafficked persons: Tales from the field. *International Migration*, *43*(1-2), 35-54.
- Brunovskis, A. & Surtees, R. (2012a). *Leaving the past behind? When victims of trafficking decline assistance.* Oslo: Fafo and NEXUS Institute.
- Brunovskis, A. & Surtees, R. (2012a). *No place like home? Challenges in family reintegration after trafficking.* Oslo: Fafo and NEXUS Institute.
- Brunovskis, A. & Surtees, R. (2012c). Coming home: Challenges in family reintegration for trafficked women. *Qualitative Social Work, 12*(4), 454-472.
- Brunovskis, A. & Surtees, R. (2010). Untold stories: Biases and selection effects in research with victims of trafficking for sexual exploitation. *International Migration, 48*(4), 1-37.
- Brysk, A. (2012). Rethinking trafficking: Human rights and private wrongs. In A. Brysk & A. Choi-Fitzpatrick (Eds.), *From human trafficking to human rights: Reframing contemporary slavery* (pp. 73-85). Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.

- Brysk, A. & Choi-Fitzpatrick, A. (2012). Introduction: Rethinking trafficking. In A. Brysk & A. Choi-Fitzpatrick (Eds.), *From human trafficking to human rights: Reframing contemporary slavery* (pp. 1-12). Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.
- Cavalieri, S. (2011). Between victim and agent: A third-way feminist account of trafficking for sex work. *Indiana Law Journal*, *86*(4), 1409-1458.
- Charmaz, K. (2006). Constructing grounded theory: A practical guide through qualitative analysis. Los Angeles: SAGE.
- Choi-Fitzpatrick, A. (2012). Rethinking trafficking: Contemporary slavery. In A. Brysk & A. Choi-Fitzpatrick (Eds.), *From human trafficking to human rights: Reframing contemporary slavery* (pp. 13-24). Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.
- Choo, K., Jang, J. O., & Choi, K. (2010). Methodological and ethical challenges to conducting human trafficking studies: A case study of Korean trafficking and smuggling for sexual exploitation to the United States. *Women & Criminal Justice*, *20*(1-2), 167-185.
- Clawson, H. J. & Goldblatt Grace, L. (2007). Finding a path to recovery: Residential facilities for minor victims of domestic sex trafficking. *Human Trafficking Data and Documents.* 10. http://digitalcommons.unl.edu/humtraffdata/10.
- Clemans, S. E. (2004). Recognizing vicarious traumatization: A single session group model for trauma workers. *Social Work with Groups*, *27*(2/3), 55-73.
- Cocker, C. & Allain, L. (2013). Social Work with looked after children. London: SAGE.
- Colton, M. (2002). Factors associated with abuse in residential care institutions. *Children & Society, 16*, 33-44.
- Conrad, D. & Kellar-Guenther, Y. (2006). Compassion fatigue, burnout, and compassion satisfaction among Colorado child protection workers. *Child Abuse & Neglect, 30,* 1071-1080.
- Cordisco Tsai, L. (2017a). Family financial roles assumed by sex trafficking survivors upon community re-entry: Findings from a financial diaries study in the Philippines. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment, 27*(4), 334-345. doi:10.1080/10911359.2017.1288193
- Cordisco Tsai, L. (2017b). The process of managing family financial pressures upon community re-entry among survivors of sex trafficking in the Philippines: A grounded theory study. *Journal of Human Trafficking. 3*(3), 211-230
- Cordisco Tsai, L. (2017c). Conducting research with survivors of sex trafficking: Lessons from a financial diaries study in the Philippines. *British Journal of Social Work.* Advance online publication.
- Cordisco Tsai, L., Seballos-Llena, I. F., & Castellano-Datta, R. A. (2017). Participatory assessment of a matched savings program for human trafficking survivors and their family members in the Philippines. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, *18*(2), Art 11.
- Cossar, J., Brandon, M., & Jordan, P. (2014). 'You've got to trust her and she's got to trust you': Children's views on participation in the child protection system. *Child & Family Social Work, 21*(1), 103-112.
- Creswell, J. W. (2007). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: choosing among five approaches* (4th edition). London: SAGE Publications.
- Crist, J. D. & Tanner, C. A. (2003). Interpretation/analysis methods in hermeneutic interpretive phenomenology. *Nursing Research*, *52*(3), 202-205.
- Curran, R. L., Naidoo, J. R., & Mchunu, G. (2017). A theory for aftercare of human trafficking survivors for nursing practice in low resource settings. *Applied nursing research*, *35*, 82-85.
- Cwikel, J. & Hoban, E. (2005). Contentious issues in research on trafficked women working in the sex industry: study design, ethics, and methodology. *The Journal of Sex Research, 42*(4), 306–316.
- Dahal, P., Joshi, S. K., & Swahnberg, K. (2015). We are looked down upon and rejected socially': a qualitative study on the experiences of trafficking survivors in Nepal. *Global Health Action*, 8, 29267.

- Dahlberg, K. (2006). The essence of essences-the search for meaning structures in phenomenological analysis of lifeworld phenomena. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-being*, *1*(1), 11-19.
- Dane, B. (2000). Child welfare workers: An innovative approach for interacting with secondary data. *Journal of Social Work Education*, *36*(1), 27-38.
- Davis, J., Havey, J., Lim, V., Nhanh, C., & Sreang, P. (2016). The forgotten cohort: An exploration of themes and patterns among male survivors of sexual exploitation and trafficking. Phnom Penh: Chab Dai.
- Delap, E. & Wedge, J. (2016). *Guidelines on Children's Reintegration*. Inter-Agency Group on Children's Reintegration.
- Derks, A. (1998). *Reintegration of victims of trafficking in Cambodia*. Phnom Penh: International Organization for Migration and Center for Advanced Study.
- Dewey, S. (2014). Understanding force and coercion: Perspectives from law enforcement, social service providers, and sex workers. In K. H. Hoang & R. S. Parreñas (Eds.), *Human trafficking reconsidered: Rethinking the problem, envisioning new solutions* (pp. 102-115). New York: International Debate Education Association.
- de Wildt, R. (2016). Ethnographic research on the sex industry: The ambivalence of ethical guidelines. In Siegel, D. & de Wildt, R. (Eds.), *Ethical concerns in research on human trafficking* (pp. 51-70). Heidelberg: Springer.
- Dickson-Swift, V., James, E. L., & Liamputtong, P. (2008). Undertaking Sensitive Research in the Health and Social Sciences: Managing Boundaries, Emotions and Risks. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Dobrova-Krol, N. A., Bakermans-Kranenburg, M. J., van IJzendoorn, M. H., & Juffer, F. (2010). The importance of quality of care: Effects of perinatal HIV infection and early institutional rearing on preschoolers' attachment and indiscriminate friendliness. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *51*, 1368–1376.
- Donnelly, C. (2010). Reflections of a Guardian Ad Litem on the participation of looked-after children in public law proceedings. *Child Care in Practice, 16*(2), 181–193.
- Dozier, M., Kaufman, J., Kobak, R., O'Connor, T. G., Sagi-Schwartz, A., Scott, S., & ... Zeanah, C. H. (2014). Consensus statement on group care or children and adolescents: A statement of policy of the American Orthopsychiatric Association. *The American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 84(3), 219-225.
- Dozier, M., Zeanah, C. H., Wallin, A. R., & Shauffer, C. (2012). Institutional care for young children: Review of literature and policy implications. *Social Issues Policy Review*, 6(1), 1–25.
- Dregan, A., & Gulliford, M. C. (2012). Foster care, residential care and public care placement patterns are associated with adult life trajectories: Population-based cohort study. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, *47*, 1517–1526.
- Duong, K. A. (2015). Doing human trafficking research: Reflections on ethical challenges. *Journal of Research in Gender Studies, 5*(2), 171-190.
- Dutta, S. (2017). Experiences of young Indian girls transiting out of residential care homes. *Asian Social Work and Policy Review, 11,* 16-29.
- Dutta, S. (2016). Institutional care in India: Investigating processes for social reintegration. *Children and Youth Services Review, 66*, 144-153.
- Easton, H. & Matthews, R. (2016). Getting the balance right: The ethics of researching women trafficked for commercial sexual exploitation. In Siegel, D. & de Wildt, R. (Eds.), *Ethical concerns in research on human trafficking* (pp. 11-32). Heidelberg: Springer.
- Eide, P. & Kahn, D. (2008). Ethical issues in the qualitative researcher-participant relationship. *Nursing Ethics*, *15*(2), 199-207.
- Elkins, J., Crawford, K., & Briggs, H. E. (2017). Male survivors of sexual abuse: Becoming gender-sensitive and trauma-informed. *Advances in Social Work*, *18*(1), 116-130.
- Erol, N., Simsek, Z., Oskay, A., & Münir, K. (2017). Divergent developmental pathways of children and adolescents reared in long-term residential protective care in Turkey. In

Siegel, D. & de Wildt, R. (Eds.), *Ethical concerns in research on human trafficking* (pp. 241-267). Heidelberg: Springer.

- Farrag, H., Flory, R., & Loskota, B. (2014). Evangelicals and human trafficking: Rescuing, rehabilitating, and releasing one individual at a time. In K. H. Hoang & R. S. Parreñas (Eds.), *Human trafficking reconsidered: Rethinking the problem, envisioning new solutions* (pp. 116-122). New York: International Debate Education Association.
- Farrell, A., & Fahy, S. (2009). The problem of human trafficking in the US: Public frames and policy responses. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, *37*(6), 617-626.
- Fassinger, R. (2005). Paradigms, praxis, problems, and promise: Grounded theory in counseling psychology research. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 52(2), 156-166.
- Finkelhor, D., Ormrod, R. K., & Turner, H. A. (2007). Poly-victimization: A neglected component in child victimization. *Child Abuse & Neglect, 31*(1), 7–26.
- Foot, K. (2016). Collaborating against human trafficking: Cross-sector challenges and practices. Ranham: Rowman & Littlefield.
- Gallagher, A. (2012). Human rights and human trafficking: A reflection on the influence and evolution of the U.S. trafficking in persons report. In A. Brysk & A. Choi-Fitzpatrick (Eds.), *From human trafficking to human rights: Reframing contemporary slavery* (pp. 172-194). Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.
- Geving, A. M. (2007). Identifying the types of students and teacher behaviors associated with teacher stress. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 23, 624-640.
- Gilligan, R. (2000). The importance of listening to the child in foster care. In G. Kelly & R. Gilligan (Eds.), *Issues in Foster Care: Policy, Practice, and Research* (pp. 40–58). London: Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Gourley, S. (2009). *The middle way: Bridging the gap between Cambodian culture and children's rights.* Phnom Penh: NGO Committee on the Rights of the Child.
- Groza, V. (2017). Foreward. In A. V. Rus, S. R. Parris, & E. Stativa (Eds.), *Child Maltreatment in Residential Care: History, Research, and Current Practice* (pp. v-vi). Cham: Springer.
- Groza, V. & Bunkers, K. M. (2017). Best practices for residential/institutional/group care of children: A harm reduction framework. In A. V. Rus, S. R. Parris, & E. Stativa (Eds.), *Child Maltreatment in Residential Care: History, Research, and Current Practice* (pp. 477-492). Cham: Springer.
- Guest, G., MacQueen, K. M. & Namey, E. E. (2012). *Applied Thematic Analysis*. Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Gunnar, M. R. (2001). Effects of early deprivation: Findings from orphanage-reared infants and children. In C. A. Nelson & M. Luciana (Eds.), *Handbook of developmental cognitive neuroscience* (pp. 617-629). Cambridge: MIT Press.
- Haarr, R. N. (2011). Violence against children in state-run residential institutions in Kazakhstan: An assessment. Astana: United Nations Children's Fund.
- Hacker, D., & Cohen, O. (2012). *Research report: The shelters in Israel for survivors of human trafficking* (submitted to the US Department of State). Retrieved from http://www2.tau.ac.il/InternetFiles/

news/UserFiles/The%20Shelters%20in%20Israel.pdf

- Hacker, D., Levine-Faiman, Y., & Halili, I. (2015). Ungendering and regendering shelters for survivors of human trafficking. *Social Inclusion*, *3*(1), 35-51.
- Harrelson, M. E., Alexander, A. A., Morais, H. B., & Burkhart, B. R. (2017). The Effects of Polyvictimization and Quality of Caregiver Attachment on Disclosure of Illegal Sexual Behavior. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse*, *26*(5), 625-642.
- Hebert, L. (2012). The sexual politics of U.S. inter/national security. In A. Brysk & A. Choi-Fitzpatrick (Eds.), *From human trafficking to human rights: Reframing contemporary slavery* (pp. 86-106). Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.
- Herman, J. (1997). *Trauma and recovery: The aftermath of violence from domestic abuse to political terror.* New York: Basic Books.

Herschkowitz, I. (2012). The effects of abuse history on sexually intrusive behavior by children: An analysis of child justice records. *Child Abuse & Neglect, 35,* 40-49.

- Hilton, A. (2008). "I thought it could never happen to boys:" Sexual abuse and exploitation of boys in Cambodia, an exploratory study. Phnom Penh: Hagar and World Vision.
- Hobbs, G. F., Hobbs, C. J., & Wynne, J. M., (1999). Abuse of children in foster and residential care. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 23(12), 1239-1252.
- Hua, Z. & David, A. (2009). Study design: Cross-sectional, longitudinal, case and group. In L. Wei, & M. Moyer, M. (Eds), *Blackwell guide to research methods in bilingualism and multilingualism* (pp. 88-107). Malden: Blackwell Publishing.
- Huguet, J. W. & Ramangkura, V. (2007). *The long road home: Analysis of regional and national processes for the return and reintegration of victims of trafficking in the Greater Mekong Sub-Region.* International Organization for Migration.
- Andreatta, C., Witkin, R., & Robjant, K. (2015). *Trafficking survivor care standards.* London: Human Trafficking Foundation.
- Hussey, D. L. & Guo, S. (2002). Profile characteristics and behavioral change trajectories of young residential children. *Journal of Child and Family Studies, 11*(4), 401-410.
- International Labour Organization (2009). *Going back moving on: A synthesis report of the trends and experiences of returned trafficking victims in Thailand and the Philippines.* Bangkok: ILO Regional Office for Asia and the Pacific.
- James, S. L., Roby, J. L., Powell, L. J., Teuscher, B. A., Hamstead, K. L., & Shafer, K. (2017). Does family reunification from residential care facilities serve children's best interest? A propensity-score matching approach in Ghana. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 83, 232-241.
- Jenkins, S. R., & Baird, S. (2002). Secondary traumatic stress and vicarious trauma: A validational study. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, *15*(5), 423-432.
- Jobe, A. (2010). The causes and consequences of re-trafficking: Evidence from the IOM human trafficking database. Geneva: IOM.
- Johnson, G., & Mendes, P. (2014). Taking control and 'moving on': How young people turn around problematic transitions from out-of-home care. *Social Work and Society International Online Journal*, 12(1), 1-15.
- Julian, M., & McCall, R. B. (2009). *The development of children within different alternative residential care environments.* Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburg Office of Child Development.
- Kapur, R. (2007). India. In *Collateral damage: The impact of anti-trafficking measures on human rights around the world* (pp. 114-141). Bangkok: Global Alliance Against Traffic in Women (CAATW).
- Kelly, L. (2005). "You can find anything you want": A critical reflection on research on trafficking in persons within and into Europe. *International Migration*, *43*(1-2), 235-265.
- Kelly, L. & Coy, M. (2016). Ethics as process, ethics in practice: Researching the sex industry and trafficking. In Siegel, D. & de Wildt, R. (Eds.), *Ethical concerns in research on human trafficking* (pp. 33-50). Heidelberg: Springer.
- Kiraly, M., & Humphreys, C. (2013). Perspectives from young people about family contact in kinship care: 'don't push us listen more.' *Australian Social Work, 66*(3), 314–327.
- Kirk, A. R., Groark, C. J., & McCall, R. B. (2017). Institutional care environments for infants and young children in Latin America and the Carribean. In A. V. Rus, S. R. Parris, & E. Stativa (Eds.), *Child Maltreatment in Residential Care: History, Research, and Current Practice* (pp. 401-418). Cham: Springer.
- Kiss, L., Pocock, N. S., Naisanguansri, V., Suos, S., Dickson, B., Thuy, D., ... & Borland, R. (2015a). Health of men, women, and children in post-trafficking services in Cambodia, Thailand, and Vietnam: An observational cross-sectional study. *The Lancet Global Health*, *3*(3), e154-e161.

- Kiss, L., Yun, K., Pocock, N., & Zimmerman, C. (2015b). Exploitation, violence, and suicide risk among child and adolescent survivors of human trafficking in the Greater Mekong Subregion. *JAMA pediatrics*, *169*(9), e152278-e152278.
- Know Violence in Childhood (2017). *Ending violence in childhood: Global report 2017*. New Delhi: Know Violence in Childhood.
- Koch, T. (1995). Interpretive approaches in nursing research: the influence of Husserl and Heidegger. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *21*, 827-836.
- Križ, K. & Roundtree-Swain, D. (2017). "We are merchandise on a conveyer belt": How young adults in the public child protection system perceive their participation in decisions about their care. *Children and Youth Services Review, 78*, 32-40.
- Kyriakides, L., Kaloyirou, C., & Lindsay, G. (2006). An analysis of the revised olweus bully/victim questionnaire using the Rasch measurement model. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, *76*(4), 781-801.
- Le, P. D. (2016) "Reconstructing a sense of self:" Trauma and coping among returned women survivors of human trafficking in Vietnam', *Qualitative Health Research*, 1-11.
- Leathers, S. J. (2003). Parental visiting, conflicting allegiances, emotional and behavioral problems among foster children. *Family Relations*, *52*, 53–63.
- Lee, M. (2014). Gendered discipline and protective custody of trafficking victims in Asia. *Punishment & Society*, *16*(2), 206-222
- Leech, N. L. & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2007). An array of qualitative data analysis tools: A call for data analysis triangulation. *School Psychology Quarterly, 22*(4), 557-584.
- Leeson, C. (2007). My life in care: Experiences of nonparticipation in decision-making processes. *Child & Family Social Work, 12*(3), 268–277.
- Leonard, V. W. (1999). A Heideggarian phenomenological perspective on the concept of the person. In E.C. Polifroni & M. Welch (Eds.), *Perspectives on philosophy of science in nursing: An historical and contemporary anthology* (pp. 315-327). Philadelphia: Lippincott.
- Li, D., Chng, G. S., & Chu, C. M. (2017). Comparing long-term placement outcomes of residential and family foster care: A meta-analysis. *Trauma, Violence & Abuse,* Advance online publication.
- Limanowska, B. (2007). Bosnia and Herzegovina (BiH). In *Collateral damage: The impact of anti-trafficking measures on human rights around the world* (pp. 61-86). Bangkok: Global Alliance Against Traffic in Women (CAATW).
- Lisborg, A. (2009). *Re-thinking reintegration: what do returning victims really want and need?* Bangkok: Strategic Information Response Network United Nations Inter-Agency Project on Human Trafficking (UNIAP).
- Lisborg, A. & Issara Institute. (2017). Towards demand-driven, empowering assistance for trafficked persons: Making the case for Freedom of Choice over protection at the expense of empowerment. Bangkok: Issara Institute.
- Lopez, K. A. & Willis, D. G. (2004). Descriptive versus interpretive phenomenology: their contributions to nursing knowledge. *Qualitative Health Research*, *14*(15), 726-735.
- Macy, R. J., & Johns, N. (2011). Aftercare services for international sex trafficking survivors: Informing US service and program development in an emerging practice area. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 12*(2), 87-98.
- Magoni, E., Bambini, A. D., & Ucembe, S. (2009). *Life as a care-leaver in Kenya*. Nairobi, Kenya: International Network of Associations of Adoptive Parents and Care Leavers.
- Mahoney, J. L. & Stattin, H. (2000). Leisure activities and adolescent antisocial behavior: The role of structure and social context. *Journal of Adolescence, 23*(2), 113-127.
- Marcus, A., Horning, A., & Curtis, R. (2014). Child sex trafficking: Toward an agent-centered approach. In K. H. Hoang & R. S. Parreñas (Eds.), *Human trafficking reconsidered: Rethinking the problem, envisioning new solutions* (pp. 41-49). New York: International Debate Education Association.
- Maxwell, J. A. (2005). *Qualitative research design: an interactive approach second edition*. Thousand Oaks: SAGE Publications.

- McMillen, J. C., Zima, B. T., Scott, L. D., Auslander, W. F., Muson, M. R., Ollie, M. T., & ... Spitznagel, E. L. (2005). Prevalence of psychiatric disorders among older youths in the foster care system. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Pscyhiatry, 44*, 88-95.
- Meinck, F., Cluver, L. D., Boyes, M. E., & Ndhluvu, L. D. (2015). Risk and protective factors for physical and emotional abuse victimisation amongst vulnerable children in South Africa. *Child Abuse Review*, 24, 182–97.
- Melkman, E. (2015). Risk and protective factors for problem behaviors among youth in residential care. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *51*, 117-124.
- Mendes, P., Baidawi, S., & Snow, P. (2013). Young people transitioning from out-of-home care: A critical analysis of leaving care policy, legislation and housing support in the Australian state of Victoria. *Child Abuse Review*, *23*(6), 402–414.
- Messman-Moore, T. L., Walsh, K. L., & DiLillo, D. (2010). Emotion dysregulation and risky sexual behavior in revictimization. *Child Abuse &Nneglect*, *34*(12), 967-976.
- Mhongera, P. B. (2017). Transition programming for sustainable livelihoods beyond institutional care in Zimbabwe: Service providers' perspectives. *Children & Society.* Advance online publication.
- Miles, G. & Miles, S. (2010). The Butterfly Longitudinal Research Project: The Chab Dai study on (Re-) integration. Researching the lifecycle of sexual exploitation & trafficking in Cambodia. End of Year Progress Report 2010. Phnom Penh: Chab Dai Coalition.
- Miles, G. & Miles, S. (2011). The Butterfly Longitudinal Research Project: The Chab Dai study on (Re-) integration. Researching the lifecycle of sexual exploitation & trafficking in Cambodia. End of Year Progress Report 2011. Phnom Penh: Chab Dai Coalition.
- Miles, S., Heang, S., Lim, V., Orng, L. H., Smith-Brake, J., & Dane, S. (2012). *The Butterfly Longitudinal Research Project: The Chab Dai study on (Re-) integration. Researching the lifecycle of sexual exploitation & trafficking in Cambodia. End of Year Progress Report 2012.* Phnom Penh: Chab Dai Coalition.
- Miles, S., Heang, S., Lim, V., Sreang, P, & Dane, S. (2013). The Butterfly Longitudinal Research Project: The Chab Dai study on (Re-) integration. Researching the lifecycle of sexual exploitation & trafficking in Cambodia. End of Year Progress Report 2013. Phnom Penh: Chab Dai Coalition.
- Miles, S., Heng, S., Lim, V., Nhanh, C., & Sreang, P. (2014). *Butterfly methodology change: A reflection paper.* Phnom Penh: Chab Dai Coalition.
- Ministry of Social Affairs, Veterans, and Youth Rehabilitation (MoSVY) (2014). *Minimum standards on residential care for victims of human trafficking.*
- Ministry of Social Affairs, Veterans, and Youth Rehabilitation (MoSVY) (2009). *Minimum* standards for protection of the rights of victims of human trafficking and sexual exploitation.
- Mitchell, M. B., Kuczynski, L., Tubbs, C. Y., & Ross, C. (2010). We are about care: Advice by children in care for children in care, foster parents and child welfare workers about the transition into foster care. *Child & Family Social Work, 15*, 176-185.
- Monks, C. P., Smith, P. K., Naylor, P., Barter, C., Ireland, J. L., & Coyne, I. (2009). Bullying in different contexts: Commonalities, differences and the role of theory. *Journal of Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 14(2), 146-156.
- Moore, T., McArthur, M., Death, J., Tulbury, C., & Roche, St. (2017a). Young people's views on safety and preventing abuse and harm in residential care: "It's got to be better than home." *Children and Youth Services Review*, *81*, 212-219.
- Moore, T., McArthur, M., Death, J., Tulbury, C., & Roche, St. (2017b). Sticking with us through it all: The importance of trustworthy relationships for children and young people in residential care. *Children and Youth Services Review,* advance online publication.
- Morrow, S. L. (2005). Quality and trustworthiness in qualitative research in counseling psychology. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *52*(2), 250-260.

- Morse, J. (2015). Critical Analysis of Strategies for Determining Rigor in Qualitative Inquiry. *Qualitative Health Research, 25*(9), 1212-1222.
- Moulson, M. C., Westerlund, A., Fox, N. A., Zeanah, C. H., & Nelson, C. A. (2009). The effects of early experience on face recognition: An event-related potential study of institutionalized children in Romania. *Child Development*, *80*, 1039–1056.

National Association of Social Workers (NASW). (2018). Code of ethics. Washington, DC: NASW.

- Nelson, C. A., Zeanah, C. H., Fox, N. A., Marshall, P. J., Smyke, A. T., & Guthrie, D. (2007). Cognitive recovery in socially deprived young children: The Bucharest Early Intervention Project. *Science*, *21*, 1937–1940.
- O'Brien, J. (2017). "What does it matter how we define it?": Exploring definitions of DMST among service providers and victims/survivors. *Journal of Human Trafficking.* Advance online publication.
- Ostrovschi, N. V., Prince, M. J., Zimmerman, C., Hotineanu, M. A., Gorceag, L. T., Gorceag, V. I., ... & Abas, M. A. (2011). Women in post-trafficking services in Moldova: Diagnostic interviews over two time periods to assess returning women's mental health. *BMC Public Health*, *11*(1), 232.
- Padgett, D. K. (1998). *Qualitative Methods in Social Work Research: Challenges and Rewards.* Thousand Oaks: SAGE Publications.
- Parreñas, R. S. (2006). Trafficked? Filipino hostesses in Tokyo's nightlife industry. Yale Journal of Law and Feminism. 18, 145-180.
- Pecora, P. J., Kessler, R. C., Williams, J., O'Brien, K., Downs, A. C., English, D., ... Holmes, K. (2005). *Improving family foster care: Findings from the Northwest foster care alumni study*. Seattle: Casey Family Programs.
- Peters, A. (2014). Challenging the sex/labor trafficking dichotomy with victim experience. In K.
 H. Hoang & R. S. Parreñas (Eds.), *Human trafficking reconsidered: Rethinking the problem, envisioning new solutions* (pp. 116-122). New York: International Debate Education Association.
- Pinheiro, P. S. (2006). World report on violence against children. Geneva: United Nations.
- Polkinghorne, D. E. (2005). Language and meaning: Data collection in qualitative research. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 52(2), 137-145.
- Pölkki, P., Vornanen, R., Pursiainen, M., & Riikonen, M. (2012). Children's participation in childprotection processes as experienced by foster children and social workers. *Child Care in Practice, 18*(2), 107–125.
- Pollock, J. (2007). In Collateral damage: The impact of anti-trafficking measures on human rights around the world (pp. 171-202). Bangkok: Global Alliance Against Traffic in Women (CAATW).
- Ponciano, L. (2013). The voices of youth in foster care: A participant action research study. *Action Research*, *11*(4), 322–336.
- Putnam, F. W. (2003). Ten-year research update review: Child sexual abuse. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, *42*, 269-278.
- Rajulton, F. (2001). The fundamentals of longitudinal research: An overview. *Special Issue on Longitudinal Methodology, Canadian Studies in Population, 28*(2), 169-85.
- Rassenhoffer, M., Spröber-Kolb, N., Plener, P. L., Kölch, M., Fegert, J. M. (2017). Child sexual abuse in religiously affiliated and secular institutions in Germany. In A. V. Rus, S. R. Parris, & E. Stativa (Eds.), *Child Maltreatment in Residential Care: History, Research, and Current Practice* (pp. 169-177). Cham: Springer.
- Reimer, J. K., Langeler, E., Sophea, S., & Montha, S. (2007). *The road home: Toward a model of "reintegration" and considerations for alternative care for children trafficked for sexual exploitation in Cambodia*. Phnom Penh: Hagar and World Vision Cambodia.
- Rende Taylor, L. & Latonero, M. (2018). Updated guide to ethics and human rights in antitrafficking: Ethical standards for working with migrant workers and trafficked persons in the digital age. Bangkok: Issara Institute.

- Richardson, D., Poudel, M., & Laurie, N. (2009). Sexual trafficking in Nepal: Constructing citizenship and livelihoods. *Gender, Place and Culture*, *16*(3), 259-278.
- Roberts, H. M., Bradby, H., Ingold, A., Manzotti, G., Reeves, D., & Liabo, K. (2017). Moving on: Multiple transitions of unaccompanied child migrants leaving care in England and Sweden. *International Journal of Social Science Studies*, *5*(9), 25-34.
- Rus, A. V., Stativa, E., Parris, S. R., Pennings, Tibu, F., Wenyika, R., & Burcea, G. (2017a). Academic achievement of Romanian institutionalized children: A socio-ecological approach. In A. V. Rus, S. R. Parris, & E. Stativa (Eds.), *Child Maltreatment in Residential Care: History, Research, and Current Practice* (pp. 87-110). Cham: Springer.
- Rus, A. V., Parris, S. R., Stativa, E., & Popa, C. O. (2017b). Child maltreatment in residential centers: Summing up. In A. V. Rus, S. R. Parris, & E. Stativa (Eds.), *Child Maltreatment in Residential Care: History, Research, and Current Practice* (pp. 509-515). Cham: Springer.
- Rus, A. V., Parris, S. R., Stativa, E., Bejenaru, A., Webster, R. D., Wente, J., & Cojocaru, S. (2017c). An introduction to the maltreatment of institutionalized children. In A. V. Rus, S. R. Parris, & E. Stativa (Eds.), *Child Maltreatment in Residential Care: History, Research, and Current Practice* (pp. 1-26). Cham: Springer.
- Rus, A. V., Stativa, E., Parris, S. R., Pennings, J. S., Butterfield, M. E., Lee, W. C., & Gavrilovici, O. (2017d). Punishment, peer exploitation, and sexual abuse in long-term Romanian residential centers: Findings from a nationally representative sample of institutionalized children. In A. V. Rus, S. R. Parris, & E. Stativa (Eds.), *Child Maltreatment in Residential Care: History, Research, and Current Practice* (pp. 61-86). Cham: Springer.
- Rus, A. V., Stativa, E., Pennings, J. S., Cross, D. R., Ekas, N., Purvis, K. & Parris, S. R., (2013). Severe punishment of children by staff in Romanian placement centers for schoolaged children: Effects of child and institutional characteristics. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 37(2), 1152-1162.
- Russell, A. (2017). Human trafficking: A research synthesis on human-trafficking literature in academic iournals from 2000–2014. *Journal of Human Trafficking*, Advance online publication.
- Safe Horizon (2018). Global collaboration against human trafficking report: Fourteen essential principles for working with human trafficking victims. New York: Safe Horizon, Inc.
- Saldaña, J. (2009). The coding manual for qualitative researchers. Los Angeles: SAGE.
- Salston, M. D., & Figley, C. R. (2003). Secondary traumatic stress effects of working with survivors of criminal victimization. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, *16*(2), 167-174.
- Sandy, L. (2009). Just choice: Representations of choice and coercion in sex work in Cambodia. *The Australian Journal of Anthropology, 18*(2), 194-206.
- Sandy, L. (2006). Sex work in Cambodia: Beyond the voluntary/forced dichotomy. Asian and *Pacific Migration Journal, 15*(14), 449-469.
- Sanghera, J. (2007). Preface. In *Collateral damage: The impact of anti-trafficking measures on human rights around the world* (pp. vii-x). Bangkok: Global Alliance Against Traffic in Women (CAATW).
- Schofield, G. (2005). The voice of the child in family placement decision-making: A developmental model. *Adoption and Fostering, 29*(1), 29–43.
- Segura, A., Pereda, N., Guilera, G., & Álvarez-Lister, S. (2017). Poly-victimization and mental health problems among adolescents in residential facilities in Spain. In A. V. Rus, S. R. Parris, & E. Stativa (Eds.), *Child Maltreatment in Residential Care: History, Research, and Current Practice* (pp. 149-168). Cham: Springer.
- Seponski, D. M., Lewis, D. C., & Megginson, M. C. (2014). A responsive evaluation of mental health treatment in Cambodia: Intentionally addressing poverty to increase cultural responsiveness in therapy. *Global Public Health*, *9*(10), 1211-1224.

- Sexton, L. (1999). Vicarious traumatisation of counselors and effects on their workplaces. *British Journal of Guidelines & Counselling, 27*(3), 393-403.
- Sherr, L., Roberts, K. J. & Gandhi, N. (2017). Child violence experiences in institutionalised/ orphanage care. *Psychology, Health & Medicine 22*(S1), 31–57.
- Shuker, L. (2014). *Evaluation of Barnardo's safe accommodation project for sexually exploited and trafficked young people*. Luton: University of Bedfordshire.
- Simkhada, P. (2008). Life histories and survival strategies amongst sexually trafficked girls in Nepal. *Children and Society*, *22*, 235-248.
- Smith-Brake, J., Lim, V., & Nhanh, C. (2015). Economic reintegration of survivors of sex trafficking: Experiences of filial piety and financial anxiety. Phnom Penh: Chab Dai.
- Stein, M., & Dixon, J. (2006). Young people leaving care in Scotland. *European Journal of Social Work, 9*, 407–23.
- Stein, M., & Wade, J. (2000). *Helping care leavers: Problems and strategic responses*. London: Department of Health.
- Stepanova, E., & Hackett, S. (2014). Understanding care leavers in Russia: Young people's experiences of institutionalisation. *Australian Social Work, 67*(1), 118–134.
- Surtees, R. (2017a). Supporting the reintegration of trafficked persons. A guidebook for the Greater Mekong Sub-Region. Bangkok: NEXUS Institute, UN-ACT and World Vision.
- Surtees, R. (2017b). *Moving on: Family and community reintegration among Indonesian trafficking victims*. Washington, D.C.: NEXUS Institute.
- Surtees, R. (2013). After trafficking: Experiences and challenges in the (re)integration of trafficked persons in the Greater Mekong Sub-region. Bangkok: UNIAP/NEXUS Institute.
- Surtees, R. (2012). *Re/integration of trafficked persons: Supporting economic empowerment.* Brussels: King Badouin Foundation and NEXUS Institute.
- Surtees, R. (2010). *Monitoring anti-trafficking re/integration programmes*. Washington, D.C.: King Baudouin Foundation and the NEXUS Institute.
- Surtees, R. (2008a). *Re/integration of trafficked persons: How can our work be more effective.* Brussels: King Badouin Foundation and NEXUS Institute.
- Surtees, R. (2008b). *Re/integration of trafficked persons: Handling 'difficult' cases.* Brussels: King Badouin Foundation and NEXUS Institute.
- Surtees, R. & Brunovskis, A. (2016). Doing no harm Ethical challenges in research with trafficked persons. In Siegel, D. & de Wildt, R. (Eds.), *Ethical concerns in research on human trafficking* (pp. 137-154). Heidelberg: Springer.
- Szanto, L., Lyons, J. S., & Kisiel, C. (2012). Childhood trauma experience and the expression of problematic sexual behavior in children and adolescents in state custody. *Residential Treatment for Children & Youth, 29*, 231-249.
- Tor, S. (1996). A model called KCBM. In J. Lavelle, S. Tor, R. F. Mollica, K. Allden, & L. Potts (Eds.), *Harvard Guide to Khmer Mental Health*. Boston: Harvard Program in Refugee Trauma.
- Tran, O., Marschke, M., & Issara Institute (2017). From trafficking to post-rescue: Insights from Burmese fishers on coercion and deception in (anti) trafficking processes. Bangkok: Issara Institute.
- Trippany, R. L., White Kress, V. E., & Wilcoxon, S. A. (2004). Preventing vicarious trauma: What counselors should know when working with trauma survivors. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 82(1), 31-37.
- Tyldum, G. (2010). Limitations in research on human trafficking. *International Migration, 48*(5), 1-13.
- United Nations (2000). United Nations Protocol to Prevent, Suppress, and Punish Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children. Supplementing the United Nations Convention against Transnational Organized Crime: Article 3 (a-d), G.A. res. 55/25, annex II, 55 U.S. (GAOR Supp. (No. 49) at 60, U.N. Doc.A/45/49 (Vol. I)).
- United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) (2011). With the best intentions: A study of attitudes towards residential care in Cambodia. Phnom Penh: UNICEF.

- United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) (2009). An evaluation of the anti trafficking and reintegration programme of the Ministry of Social Affairs, Veterans and Youth Rehabilitation, Cambodia. Phnom Penh: UNICEF.
- United Nations General Assembly (1948). Universal Declaration of Human Rights. United Nations, 217 (III) A, Paris, art. 1.
- United Nations General Assembly (1989). *Convention on the Rights of the Child*, United Nations, Treaty Series, vol. 1577.
- United Nations General Assembly (2010). *Guidelines for the Appropriate Use and Conditions of Alternative Care for Children, A/RES/64/142.*
- United Nations Inter-Agency Project on Human Trafficking (UNIAP) (2008). *Guide to Ethics and Human Rights in Counter-trafficking: Ethical Standards for Counter-trafficking.* Bangkok: UNIAP.
- United Nations Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights (UN OHCHR) (2014). Human rights and human trafficking. Geneva: United Nations.
- Valle, J. F., Bravo, A., Alvarez, E., & Fernanaz, A. (2008). Adult self-sufficiency and social adjustment in care leavers from children's homes: A long-term assessment. *Child and Family Social Work, 13*, 12–22.
- van Bijleveld, G. G., Dedding, C. W. M., & Bunders-Aelen, FJ. F. G. (2015). Children and young people's participation within child welfare and child protective services: A state-of-the-art review. *Child & Family Social Work, 20*, 129-138.
- van der Kolk, B. (2014). *The body keeps the score: Brain, mind, and body in the healing of trauma.* New York: Penguin Books.
- van Manen, M. (1990). *Researching lived experience: human science for an action sensitive pedagogy.* London: SUNY Press.
- Vaughn, M. G., Shook, J. J., & McMillen, J. C. (2008). Aging out of foster care and legal involvement: Toward a typology of risk. *Social Service Review*, *82*, 419–446.
- Wedge, J., Krumholz, A., & Jones, L. (2013). *Reaching for home: Global learning on family reintegration in low and lower-middle income countries*. Retrieved from: http://bettercarenetwork.org/library/principles-of-good-care-practices/leaving-alternative-care-and-reintegration/reaching-for-home-global-learning-on-family-reintegration-in-low-and-lower-middle-income-countries.
- Weitzer, R. (2007). The social construction of sex trafficking: Ideology and institutionalization of a moral crusade. *Politics & Society, 35*(3), 447-475.
- Whetten, K., Ostermann, J., Pence, B. W., Whetten, R. A., Messer, L. C., Ariely, S., ... Thielman, N. M. (2014). Three-year change in the wellbeing of orphaned and separated children in institutional and family-based care settings in five low- and middle income countries. *PLoS One*, *9*(8), e104872.
- Whiting, J. B. & Lee, R. E. (2003). Voices from the system: A qualitative study of foster children's stories. *Family Relations*, *52*, 288–295.
- Widom, C. S. (1995). *Victims of childhood sexual abuse: Later criminal consequences*. Washington, DC: US Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, National Institute of Justice.
- Wright, T. T. & Hobfoll, S. E. (2004). Commitment, psychological well-being and job performance: An examination of Conservation of Resources (COR) theory and job burnout. *Journal of Business Management, 9*(4), 389-404.
- Yea, S. (2016). Trust, rapport, and ethics in human trafficking research: Reflections on research with male labourers from South Asia in Singapore. In Siegel, D. & de Wildt, R. (Eds.), *Ethical concerns in research on human trafficking* (pp. 155-172). Heidelberg: Springer.
- Zeanah ,C. H., Smyke, A. T., Koga, S. F., & Carlson, E. (2005). Bucharest Early Intervention Project core group. *Child Development*, *76*(5), 1015-28.

- Zheng, T. (2014). Migrant sex workers and trafficking in China. In K. H. Hoang & R. S. Parreñas (Eds.), *Human trafficking reconsidered: Rethinking the problem, envisioning new solutions* (pp. 139-148). New York: International Debate Education Association.
- Ziegler, D. (2002). *Traumatic experience and the brain: A handbook for understanding and treating those traumatized as children*. Phoenix: Acacia Publishing, Inc.
- Zimmerman, C. & Watts, C. (2003). WHO Ethical and safety recommendations for interviewing trafficked women. Geneva: World Health Organization.